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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

ERBEXZMAERDE ((BXAT]) GEMHEFE

GEMMEN - NAPPEARRMA—ELTHTS  MEARALBEMEIRLETNAAFTERSRELR - AER
ENATETHRENZSQAANETRR  YEECEEFEAFNERRTEHRERE

HRGEM LT AR EBRFNELT  HGEMEENIESFTHREBNEIRNEE RS AIBANT S RD AR - FRHE
EREEGIMEENE SRS RBENTS -

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESWMES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT

The business environment remained difficult during the financial year
ended 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period”) because of the resurgence
of the novel coronavirus pneumonia pandemic in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC" or “China”") and the United States of America (the “United
States”) government’s continued sanctions against and restrictions on
certain Chinese technology companies. As a result, projects undertaken by
the information system solution providers in China were delayed or scaled
down. Moreover, the Chinese government tightened its regulation of the
online/offline digital payment services as it piloted the digital renminbi (or
Digital Currency Electronic Payment which is abbreviated as DCEP and £X
FEMEF (T in Chinese). This affected the industry which is related to
such services.

However, there is a silver lining to the difficult situation caused by the
pandemic — more people and businesses were compelled by social
distancing measures to conduct daily activities online. This sped up the
digital transformation of companies and contributed to the boom in
China’s digital economy. The trend fostered the development of certain
sectors of China’s information system solution industry such as electronic
signature and internet electronic identity authentication. The pandemic
also presented opportunities to the industry of artificial intelligence (“Al")
services and solutions as many businesses were seeking to replace manual
workers with Al technology amid labour shortage and thus a rise in wages
caused by the coronavirus disease.

In order to overcome the harsh operating environment and capitalize on
China’s booming digital economy, Quantum Thinking Limited (the
“Company’, which together with its subsidiaries, is referred to as the
"Group’) pressed ahead with its business transformation and diversification
during the Reporting Period. It was branching out into the businesses of
providing digital solutions for cyber security, facilitating companies’ digital
transformation and providing Al services and solutions.

For instance, during the fourth quarter of the Reporting Period, the
Company's 70%-held Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co.,
Ltd* CRINTT R ERLREBR AR (‘CTIC Cyber Security’) signed a
contract to build an infrastructure for real-name system management
based on eCitizen digital identity verification technology for a technology
development company. eCitizen is a proprietary product developed by
CITIC Cyber Security for electronic identity authentication that enables
users of services to safely log in, sign digitally and have their personal data
protected in online transactions.

4 Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2022

g

HITEERESE
REBEE-ZE-_—F=A=+—HUEFEFE(R
EHED  FREEBRREMAZBEEREARL
MEA(THER])RE - FAEFEARE(EE]D
BRF 4 48 5 35 T B R A 7 B e 51 B S BRI
WEBRRDARYE - PREEBERFBRFRT
EFAEZNIAE B E It T ER s MR/ RAE o ok - AP
BERNERTHEERTARE(IBHRTELE
SAF o EREOCEP) MU EH R E BT RS
FRISHESE » LR 2 T MRS EENTTE -

AW - RIFEHNMAEHRLN - IR
BEFEEZALTREREREEEARSER - K
MEEERFT(CEIINE - W fefh BB FEH
MR - IEBEANNPEIEERRBRTRT
EETRE  JINEFREREBREETF M &
BIEVEER o MO ERBERSTER ©T
ALk Bt FZoXEEESAATERER
RAF - EAIRATERRE MR RITES
KA o

REBRHNLERE  WIEETERFREE
PDEROKE  ETFTEHERAFTN(RQT] &
FIEME AR AR [ &EE ) E3REHE NS
HEXRBEIULZ T BEBHREEBERK
REHFBRTERE - LR F(EER - LA
R AT IR M BRRTT 2R

flan - REHENENEE - KR RHFH70%
PR R IH R ERLREARAR([HERAZ])
B —EH - B FXHRARERER e ARH
FHNRERMOBERHEREBRNERRIE e
ARBTPEBRETRENE TS HERER -
AERBEHREEEA  UEBFAEE UKk
RETHR ERDRRERLFAEH -

- eSS |- o L



Executive Director’s Statement
HITESWMES

During the third quarter of the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security
signed separate contracts to design a total solution and system for Al-
based recognition and facial recognition system for an automated fare
collection system of a metro company in China on behalf of a robotics and
industrial automation device company, to conduct overhauls and tests of
the cyber security of a corporate cultural exchange organizing and
corporate management consulting company and to provide cyber security
services for it.

The Company's wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen YBDS IT Co., Ltd* (%
YT rEIE S BERHEAMR A F)), signed a framework agreement during the
Reporting Period to provide training in and consultancy on robotic process
automation (“RPA”") for a software and information technology service
company. Such training in and consultancy on RPA will enable a leading
telecommunications company to provide some Al-based customer
services such as answering customer enquiries about outstanding fees and
unused quota of data transmission without involving any human effort.
Such Al services and solutions not only can replace manual workers in
simple and routine jobs and thus can relieve the pressure of the rising
labour cost, but also can lay the foundation of big data analytics, which can
help companies to promote certain new services or products among target
customers.

CITIC Cyber Security had earlier marked a milestone in its development by
entering into an agreement to form a digital technology joint venture
company with China’s three major telecommunications carriers, namely
China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd., China United Network
Communications Group Company Limited and China Telecommunications
Corporation, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of a state-owned public
security technology company in the financial year ended 31 March 2021
(the “Previous Period") to tap into China’s market for digital solutions for
cyber security. The joint venture company will leverage the three
telecommunications carriers’ service capabilities and customer bases as
well as the advantages of subscriber identification module (SIM) such as
convenience and strong capabilities for computing and data storage to
enable the public to log in and authorize transactions with convenience
and cyber security. It will initially introduce its services into transportation,
mobile public services and transactions at banks.
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Executive Director’s Statement
HITESWMES

Looking ahead, the Group will adopt a two-pronged business strategy — R BRI - AEEEIHEESE TR EHBEH -
to keep fostering its business of back-end information technology software gt 24 EIE B 15 {E SR R R SRR ¥
and system development such as that for information verification and, at ~ W{E B XM E% - RREEEAREIEA FH
the same time, develop its business of front-end information technology R EHIRTIH S B RMAU R ZFFE 2 XK o K
software and system development such as that for wearable devices. The  S£E R FI AR wmE K ELIGFA TS A B X &
front-end business will enable the Group to establish its brand in the end- & MBS A RIEFNBE o NEB BRI —
user market and thus create its brand awareness. By pursuing this two-  #ER NREKERE  UEE L EKEREOER -
pronged business strategy, the Group aims to consolidate the foundation 3 75 3 242 i B 2 % FHAR Ko S AU B A5 SR B L 18 o
for its business development and fully capitalize on the upgrading and

transformation of China's industries.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my gratitude to the board RN ARBREXAEER  MAQAFTEEE BT R¥E
of directors, the employees and the business partners of the Company. We — B EEH - RFISEHBZEREE - AEEHN

will continue to work closely together for a brighter future. AREM -
Wang Xiaoqi HITEE
Executive Director TR
Hong Kong, 20 June 2022 BB —E-—F,A=-+H
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E S W LT

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting Period"), the
information system solution industry in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC" or “China") was hit hard by the resurgence of the novel coronavirus
pneumonia pandemic and the United States of America (the “United
States”) government’s continued sanctions against and restrictions on
certain Chinese technology companies.

While the pandemic affected China’s economic development and thus
caused some leading Chinese internet and technology companies to
downsize, the United States government’s continued sanctions made it
more difficult for some Chinese telecommunications equipment and
consumer electronics companies to acquire advanced integrated circuits
to produce 5G telecommunication devices such as smart phones. As a
result, projects undertaken by the information system solution providers
were delayed or scaled down.

Moreover, the Chinese government tightened its regulation of the online/
offline digital payment services as it piloted the digital renminbi (or Digital
Currency Electronic Payment which is abbreviated as DCEP and & & #
& F 3 17 in Chinese). This affected the industry which is related to such
services.

Nevertheless, the pandemic has compelled more people and businesses to
conduct daily activities online and thus accelerated the digital
transformation of companies. Certain sectors of China’s information system
solution industry benefited from this trend and turned out to be bright
spots. For instance, electronic signature, as a technology that is an integral
part of the digitalization of China’s economy, gained traction. According to
iiMedia Research, a data mining and analysis organization for new
economy industries, the size of China’s electronic signature market grew
by 41.2% to RMB15.28 billion in 2021 from RMB10.82 billion in 2020. The
organization also predicted that the market would increase to RMB21.71
billion in 2022 and RMB40.42 billion in 2024 (Source: * & F % 41T &k
DM 2022 FFEIE FEETISRETEETKE217.1187T" posted on
iiMedia Research’s website iiMedia.cn on 14 February 2022).

Meanwhile, the coronavirus disease has caused labour shortage and thus a
rise in wages. As a result, many businesses are seeking to substitute manual
workers with artificial intelligence (“Al") in simple and routine jobs. Voice
control for performing such tasks is a case in point. This means business
opportunities for the industry of Al services and solutions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E S W DT

As to the demand of the end-users of the online/offline payment systems
in the PRC in 2021, the value of the payments processed by non-bank
payment institutions through public information technology networks
increased by 20.67% to RMB355.46 trillion while the number of such
payments grew by 24.30% to approximately 1.028 trillion, according to the
People’s Bank of China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In order to get through the difficult operating environment and capitalize
on China’s booming digital economy, the Group continued to forge ahead
with its business transformation and diversification during the Reporting
Period. It was branching out into the businesses of providing digital
solutions for cyber security and providing Al services and solutions.

For instance, during the fourth quarter of the Reporting Period, the
Company's 70%-held Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co.,
Ltd. (FIITHEREZREER2AR]) (‘CTIC Cyber Security’) signed a
contract to build an infrastructure for real-name system management
based on eCitizen digital identity verification technology for a technology
development company. CITIC Cyber Security will provide 5G-eCitizen SIM
cards, develop applications customized for certain occasions, and provide
technical support. A wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Cyber Security
signed an agreement to authorize a website of a technology company that
builds a smart city to replicate digitally, issue and disseminate on
information network the video content of an education course. That
wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Cyber Security also signed a contract to
provide, install, operate and maintain intelligent bookcases that serve as
automatic libraries of both print books and digital reading materials for a
culture industry company.

During the third quarter of the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security
signed separate contracts to design a total solution and system for Al-
based recognition and facial recognition system for an automated fare
collection system of a metro company in China on behalf of a robotics and
industrial automation device company, to conduct overhauls and tests of
the cyber security of a corporate cultural exchange organizing and
corporate management consulting company and to provide cyber security
services for it. CITIC Cyber Security also signed separate contracts to
provide, install, operate and maintain intelligent bookcases that serve as
automatic libraries of both print books and digital reading materials for an
equity exchange and a property development and management firm. It
also undertook a project of testing software on behalf of a technology
company.

8 Quantum Thinking Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E S W LT

CITIC Cyber Security had earlier entered into an agreement dated 30
September 2020 to form a joint venture company with China's three major
telecommunications carriers, namely China Mobile Communications Group
Co,, Ltd,, China United Network Communications Group Company Limited
and China Telecommunications Corporation*, and Beijing Chinese Shield
Anicert Technology Development Co., Ltd.*, which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Beijing Zhongdun Security Technology Development Co., a
state-owned public security technology company (For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 10 February 2021 and
circular dated 26 May 2021 published on the website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited). As at 31 March 2022, the joint venture
company has not been established. The joint venture company will be
positioned as a digital technology company which provides financial
institutions, government departments and enterprises with digital solutions
for cyber security. It will leverage the three telecommunications carriers’
service capabilities and customer bases as well as the advantages of
subscriber identification module (“SIM”) such as convenience and strong
capabilities for computing and data storage to enable the public to log in
and authorize transactions with convenience and cyber security. The joint
venture company will initially introduce its services into transportation,
mobile public services and transactions at banks.

For CITIC Cyber Security, these breakthroughs in business development are
built on its past achievements as it had already undertaken projects to
apply eCitizen (or “e 2" in Chinese, which is its proprietary product for
electronic identity authentication that enables users of services to safely
log in, sign digitally and have their personal data protected in online
transactions) to some banks' financial services and electronic signature and
to conduct information verification for other companies.

During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security continued to conduct
information verification for a securities brokerage, a certificate authority
and a mainland China-based full-service investment banking enterprise
through websites, application programming interface (“API") or terminals.
It was also fulfilling a contract to build a unified digital authentication
system, carry out application integration and operate and maintain such
system for an information technology subsidiary of a China-based
transportation infrastructure design and construction firm.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IR E S W DT

CITIC Cyber Security had earlier signed an agreement with the Shenzhen
branch of a PRC-based bank to jointly promote each other’s respective
services, namely CITIC Cyber Security's internet electronic identity
authentication and the bank’s financial services in June 2019. Under this
agreement, eCitizen would be applied to the bank's financial services. In
June 2019, CITIC Cyber Security also reached an agreement with a
Shenzhen-based certificate authority to cooperate in combining eCitizen
SIM card and digital certificates and in applying the two combined
technologies to such fields as electronic signature. In January 2020, CITIC
Cyber Security signed a contract to develop and implement on behalf of
another PRC-based bank a platform for signing, managing and auditing
contracts electronically.

Other businesses that the Group engaged in during the Reporting period
included subleasing co-working spaces of an office building in Shenzhen
to mainly financial technology start-ups; the supply of electrical and
electronic components, namely inductors and master control chips; the
research and development of various systems and devices, including a
navigation and positioning system for unmanned vehicles and aircraft that
can be operated in combination with cameras, Global Navigation Satellite
System (“GNSS") or maps; an intelligent cloud platform system for distant
interaction; a cross-platform, high-performance player; a simplified version
of an enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system; and an information
security system with multiple licences for small and medium-sized financial
holding companies.

1. Business of office rental which is bundled with
information technology services and office
administration services in Shenzhen

CITIC Cyber Security subleased co-working spaces of an office
building in Shenzhen to mainly financial technology start-ups. The
office rental is bundled with its information technology services and
some office administration services. During the fourth quarter of the
Reporting Period, the total number of tenants was 37.
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Research and development of various systems and
devices

During the Reporting Period, the Group was fulfilling a contract to
conduct research and development of various systems and devices
on behalf of an information technology solution provider for the
period from 15 October 2020 to 14 October 2021. Such systems and
devices included a navigation and positioning system for unmanned
vehicles and aircraft that can be operated in combination with
cameras, GNSS or maps; an intelligent cloud platform system for
distant interaction; a cross-platform, high-performance player; a
simplified version of an ERP system; and an information security
system with multiple licences for small and medium-sized financial
holding companies.

Development and implementation of a platform
for electronically signing, managing and auditing
contracts

CITIC Cyber Security developed and implemented on behalf of a
PRC-based bank a platform for signing, managing and auditing
contracts electronically. The contract was nearly completed during
the fourth quarter of the Reporting Period.

Conducting information verification for other
companies

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (the “"Previous
Period"), CITIC Cyber Security had signed two separate contracts to
conduct information verification for a securities brokerage and a
certificate authority through websites, APl or terminals. Previously, it
signed an agreement with a Shenzhen-based information
technology system developer in June 2020 to conduct information
verification on behalf of a mainland China-based full-service
investment bank.

Construction of a unified digital authentication
system, application integration and operation and
maintenance of the system

In July 2020, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to build a unified
digital authentication system, carry out application integration and
operate and maintain such system for an information technology
subsidiary of a China-based transportation infrastructure design and
construction firm. CITIC Cyber Security provided both services and
hardware for its client during the Reporting Period.
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6. Provision, installation, operation and maintenance
of intelligent bookcases

During the Reporting Period, CITIC Cyber Security and its wholly-
owned subsidiary signed three separate contracts to provide, install,
operate and maintain intelligent bookcases that serve as automatic
libraries of both print books and digital reading materials for an
equity exchange, a property development and management firm
and a culture industry company.

7. Building infrastructure for real-name system
management based on eCitizen digital identity
verification technology

In March 2022, CITIC Cyber Security signed a contract to build an
infrastructure for real-name system management based on eCitizen
digital identity verification technology for a technology
development company. CITIC Cyber Security will provide 5G-eCitizen
SIM cards, develop applications customized for certain occasions,
and provide technical support.

8. Authorizing a website to replicate digitally, issue
and disseminate on information network the
video content of an education course

In January 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Cyber Security
signed an agreement to authorize a website of a technology
company that builds a smart city to replicate digitally, issue and
disseminate on information network the video content of an
education course.

PROSPECT

In view of the pandemic resurgence that affected China’s economy and
the United States government’s continued sanctions against certain
Chinese technology companies, the Group is cautious about the outlook
for business. It expects its projects to be scaled down although their
progress will be normal.

To cope with the difficult operating environment, the Group has been
stepping up its business transformation and diversification. It will adopt a
two-pronged business strategy — to keep fostering its business of back-
end information technology software and system development such as
that for information verification and, at the same time, develop its business
of front-end information technology software and system development
such as that for wearable devices. The front-end business will enable the
Group to build its brand in the end-user market and thus create its brand
awareness.
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The Group will leverage its advantage in cooperating with state-owned
enterprises to actively capitalize on China’s booming digital economy. For
instance, it has already been diversifying into internet electronic identity
authentication, electronic signature and Al services and solutions. Such
initiatives not only can broaden the income stream to help the Group get
through the difficult business environment but also can add impetus to
the Group's business development for the long term.

During the Reporting Period, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary,
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co,, Ltd. (RINTTREIHE ERHEBR A F)), signed a
framework agreement to provide training in and consultancy on robotic
process automation (“RPA”) for a software and information technology
service company. Such training in and consultancy on RPA will enable a
leading telecommunications company to provide some Al-based customer
services such as answering customer enquiries about outstanding fees and
unused quota of data transmission without involving any manpower. Such
Al services and solutions not only can replace manual workers in simple
and routine jobs and thus can relieve the pressure of the rising labour cost,
but also can lay the foundation of big data analytics, which can help
companies to promote certain new services or products among target
customers.

During the Previous Period, CITIC Cyber Security entered into an agreement
to form a digital technology joint venture company that would provide
financial institutions, government departments and enterprises with digital
solutions for cyber security.

By pursuing its two-pronged business strategy of fostering both the back-
end and front-end businesses of information technology software and
system development, the Group aims to consolidate the foundation for its
business development and fully capitalize on the upgrading and
transformation of China'’s industries.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Company raised net proceeds of approximately HK$S100 million
through a subscription (the “Subscription”) on 5 August 2013 by issuing
450,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a subscription price of
HKS$0.225 per ordinary share of the Company to Happy On Holdings
Limited ("Happy On"). Immediately after the completion of the
Subscription, Happy On held 987,888,771 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 72.83% of the total issued share capital of the
Company.
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As stipulated in the circular of the Company dated 11 July 2013, such
proceeds were to be applied in (i) paying and contributing to the
registered capital, increased registered capital and further investment in
Guangzhou YBDS and Beijing YBDS IT Co, Ltd.* (It REIEFBEERERAE
[& ‘A &) (‘Beijing YBDS"), the two indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, especially for Beijing YBDS in order to meet the minimum
capital threshold requirement when submitting bids for the proposed
projects offered by relevant telecommunications service providers in the
PRG; and (ii) general working capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company applied
approximately HK$19,785,000 of the proceeds to pay up the outstanding
remaining increased registered capital of Guangzhou YBDS. As the
Company acquired China Mobile Payment Technology Group Company
Limited on 23 December 2014, a holding company that owns a subsidiary
with the aforesaid threshold requirement for bids submission, Beijing YBDS
was no longer needed and had been deregistered on 17 June 2016. As
stated in the announcement dated 23 December 2014, the part of
proceeds of approximately HK$45.5 million originally earmarked for Beijing
YBDS' registered capital and the capital increase, together with the
remaining balance of the proceeds were then added to the Company's
capital for new potential projects and general working capital purposes. (As
at 31 March 2022, there was an unutilised amount of net proceeds of
approximately HK$30,872,000.)

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
June 2013, 5 August 2013, 20 August 2014 and 23 December 2014, and the
circulars dated 11 July 2013 and 10 November 2014.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$32,800,000, representing a decrease of approximately
20% when compared with that in the Previous Period of approximately
HKS$41,242,000.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period was
approximately HK$18,189,000 compared with profit attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$ 16,703,000 for the Previous Period.
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Business segments

During the Reporting Period, when compared with the Previous Period,
revenue generated from hardware sales has decreased by approximately
25%, while revenue from services has decreased by approximately 16%.

Geographical segments

The provision of system development services and other value-added
technical consultation services and hardware-related business mainly
caters for the PRC market. Revenue from the Hong Kong segment
represented nil of the total revenue (Previous Period: nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2022, the shareholders’ funds of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$10,707,000. Current assets were approximately
HK$55,316,000, mainly comprised of cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$7,978,000, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss of approximately HK$22,894,000 and trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$23,870,000. Current liabilities mainly comprised trade
and other payables of approximately HK$53,503,000. The net asset value
per share was approximately HK$0.002. The Group’s gearing ratio,
expressed as a percentage of bank borrowings and long term debts over
total equity, was nil. The liquidity ratio of the Group, determined as a ratio
of current assets over current liabilities, was 1.01:1 (as at 31 March 2021:
1.54:1).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and China. The Group's assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
Renminbi. The currency exchange rate risk of the Group is immaterial, and
the Group did not engage in any hedging activities. However, the
management will monitor foreign exchange exposure and consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021 and 2022, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021 and 2022, the Group had no charges on the Group's
asset.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 34 employees (including 7 Directors).
(31 March 2021: 27 employees (including 6 Directors)). The total
remuneration paid to employees, including Directors, for the Reporting
Period was approximately HK$9,458,000 (Previous Period: HK$10,120,000).
Remuneration is determined by reference to market terms and the
performance, qualification and experience of each individual employee.
Annual year-end double pay is paid based on each individual employee’s
performance as recognition of and reward for their contributions. Other
benefits accruing to the employees include contributions made to
statutory mandatory provident fund scheme and a group medical scheme.
We also subsidise our employees for pursuing further studies in related
fields.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any
significant investments held or any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or associated companies during the Reporting Period.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2022
Annual General Meeting") will be held on Monday, 1 August 2022 at
2:00 p.m. at 29/F, The Gateway, Tower 5, Harbour City, 15 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2022 Annual General Meeting to be held at 2:00 p.m. on
Monday, 1 August 2022, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 27 July 2022 to Monday, 1 August 2022, both
dates inclusive. During this period, no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the aforesaid
meeting, all share certificates with completed transfer forms must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 26
July 2022 for registration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the Code Provisions set out in the Code throughout the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 (the "Reporting Period") except for
the deviations from Code Provisions A.1.8 (now rearranged as C.1.8) and
A.2.17 (now rearranged as C.2.1) of the Code as explained as follows:

Code Provision A.1.8 (now rearranged as C.1.8)

Code Provision A.1.8 (now rearranged as C.1.8) stipulates that an issuer
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its directors.

During the Reporting Period, the board (the “Board”) of Directors
considered that under the current situations of close management of the
Group and business scale, the possibility of actual litigation against the
Directors is very low. The Company will consider reviewing various
insurance cover proposals and will make such an arrangement as
appropriate.

Code Provision A.2.1 (now rearranged as C.2.1)

Code Provision A.2.1 (now rearranged as C.2.1) stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Cai Dan, Mr. Wang Xiaoqi, Ms. Ho
Ching and Mr. Ho Yeung focus on evaluating new potential business and
investment opportunities and formulating and implementing business
strategies to enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company.
Hence, a new chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed
until suitable candidates have been identified for such purpose.
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COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Having made specific enquiries with each of the Directors, all current
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

EFFECTIVE AND EXPERIENCED BOARD
Board Composition

The Board comprises the following members during the Reporting Period
and at the date of this report:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung

Mr. Cai Dan

Ms. Ho Ching (Appointed on 18 June 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Chor Ki

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony

Mr. Wong Kin Kee
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Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to, among other matters, review
financial and operating performance and discuss the Group's direction and
strategy.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held.

Details of the Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings during the
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Reporting Period are as follows: 15
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
held during held during
the Reporting  the Reporting
Period Period
HERE HERE
REEHE RBEHE
BTz BTz
B2 RRERRERH
Mr. Wang Xiaoqi FRELEAE 4/4 /1
Mr. Ho Yeung ¥ fe A 1/4 1/1
Mr. Cai Dan BERELE 4/4 0/1

Ms. Ho Ching fAlfiE 2z

(Appointed on 18 June 2021) (RZZ2E—FA+/\BEZT) 2/3 1
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE L 4/4 /1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki M= Lt 4/4 11
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mEERE 4/4 1/1

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s overall strategy,
considering and approving financial statements, material contracts and
transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
Board delegates the day to day operation and administration functions to
the executive Directors and the management, while preserving the right to
finally approve key matters and strategic decisions. When the Board
delegates certain aspects of its management and administration functions
to the management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of the
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where the
management should report back and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company. The Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.
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The Board understands that they are responsible for the design and
implementation of the risk management system, as well as monitoring and
review of the effectiveness of such system. The Board has delegated such
responsibility to the executive Directors and the management of the
Group, and the executive Directors and the management will report to the
Board any findings regarding the risk management systems of the Group.

The Board and the management have reviewed the Group's financial,
operation, compliance and strategic aspects and identified certain risk
areas. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a risk
management policy and risk reporting mechanism. Our risk management
policy covers various aspects including systematic risk identification and
assessment and risk response processes, and a comprehensive risk
monitoring and reporting mechanism.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and proposed agendas for all Board and committee meetings
are normally made available to Directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors/committee members, to the extent
possible, at least 3 days before each Board or committee meeting to keep
Directors or committee members apprised of the latest developments and
financial position of the Company enabling them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to senior management whenever necessary.

The secretary of the meeting is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and
the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

According to the current practices of the Board, any material transaction,
which involves a conflict of interests relating to a substantial shareholder,
Director or Directors, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a
duly convened Board meeting. The Company'’s articles of association also
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such substantial shareholder, Director or Directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

According to the Company’s articles of association, not less than one-third
of the Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

According to Code Provision B.2.2 of the Code, every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Wang Xiaogi was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
17 March 2015. Mr. Wang presently does not have a fixed term of service
with the Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang is
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
June 2017. Mr. Ho has entered into a service contract with the Company on
the day of his appointment and has renewed his service contract with the
Company for a term of another three years commencing on 1 June 2020.
His term of office is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Mr. Cai Dan was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1
March 2021. Mr. Cai presently does not have a fixed term of service with
the Company and will hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
remuneration of Mr. Cai is determined with reference to his qualifications,
experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing
market conditions.

Ms. Ho Ching was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 18
June 2021. Ms. Ho presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company and will hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. The
remuneration of Ms. Ho is determined with reference to her qualifications,
experience and duties and responsibilities in the Group and prevailing
market conditions.
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Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 15 May 2014. Mr. Tse entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 17 May 2019. Mr. Tse has further renewed his
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another three years
commencing on 17 May 2022. His term of office is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Lau Chor Ki was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 1 June 2020. His term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

June 2017. Mr. Lau has entered into a letter of

Mr. Wong Kin Kee was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 3 April 2018. Mr. Wong has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company on the day of his appointment and has
renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for a term of another
three years commencing on 3 April 2021. His term of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation from each of the
current independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
of the Company pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers that each of the current independent non-executive Directors is
independent of the Company.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) were appointed for a specific term but subject to the relevant
provisions of the articles of association or any other applicable laws on the
Directors’ removal or retirement. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and
Mr. Wong Kin Kee, the independent non-executive Directors, are appointed
until 16 May 2025, 31 May 2023 and 2 April 2024.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 (now rearranged as C.2.1) stipulated that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate.

The executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Xiaogi, Mr. Ho Yeung, Ms. Ho
Ching and Mr. Cai Dan focus on evaluating new potential business and
investment opportunities and formulating a new business strategy to
enhance the revenue and growth potential of the Company. Hence, a new
chairman and chief executive officer will not be appointed until suitable
candidates have been identified for such purpose.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Information of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family or other
material and/or relevant relationship between each of the executive
Directors and other members of the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established in May 2000, and the Company had adopted a revised specific
terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Group's audit
findings, accounting policies and standards, changes of accounting rules (if
any), compliance to the GEM Listing Rules, internal and audit control, and
cash flow forecast.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

The Group's unaudited quarterly and half-yearly results and audited annual
results for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee which is of the view that such financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting standards and that
adequate disclosures have been made.
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The Board and the Audit Committee considered the internal control and
risk management mechanism of the Group to be operating effectively for
the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, four meetings of the Audit Committee were
held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit Committee
meetings are as follows:

EEERERZBERA/ARENBERE 2R
MEIE AR EBHEIEEB R -

R|EHR BERZEGERTHAGRE - FX
ZECERIKEBHECEFABOT

Attendance/

Number of

Audit Committee
meetings held during
the Reporting Period

HERE

RBEHRBERTZ

EREESERIH

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE AL 4/4
Mr. Lau Chor Ki W LA 4/4
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EERAELA 4/4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee’) was established in November 2005 and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference on 4 December 2013 in
accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
requirements set out under Code Provisions.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony,
Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year or on an as
needed basis. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management and to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages and conditions of employment for the
executive Directors and the senior management.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has performed
its duties to review the remuneration of Board members.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meeting are as follows:

W BEE RN —REN - FH
%EQEmZWEﬁr£ﬁﬁ|WT-

Attendance/

Number of
Remuneration
Committee

meetings held during
the Reporting Period

HERE

REBEHEERTZ

FHMEEESERE

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFEEE Il
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wit EEE 1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mEELE /1

The policies for the remuneration of the executive Directors and, if
appropriate, the independent non-executive Directors are:

—  to ensure that none of the Directors should determine their own
remuneration;

—  the remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
which the Company competes for human resources;

— the Group should aim to attract and retain executives and to
motivate them to pursue appropriate growth strategies whilst taking
into account individual performance; and

—  the remuneration should reflect the performance, complexity of
duties and responsibility of individuals.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”’) was established in May 2011 and the Company had adopted
a revised specific written terms of reference on 10 January 2019 in
compliance with the Code Provision A5 (now rearranged as B.3).

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr.
Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are the independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to identify potential
candidates and to make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for monitoring the achievement of the
measurable objectives set out in the policy.

The Company recognises and seises the benefits of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board's composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee
was held. Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:
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RHEEEGZHEAME ARACEZTEE
BEEERBEZE  BRETRRILL - Fi
XERBEER BELR RERFE - 28
EEZgXEBZZEBABARST BRE - XEE
BAERENEBGRE AP ERESTEKNE ST

Attendance/

Number of
Nomination
Committee

meetings held during
the Reporting Period

HERE,

RBEHRBRTZ

REZES

SRRE

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony HFE A /1
Mr. Lau Chor Ki Wt /1
Mr. Wong Kin Kee EREASYE /1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance
practices relevant to the model and growth of its business. In order to
achieve a right balance between governance and performance, the Board
is responsible for introducing and proposing relevant principles concerning
corporate governance so as to enhance the standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

The Board is primarily responsible for performing the following corporate
governance functions:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  toreview the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the corporate governance functions reviewed and performed
by the Board during the Reporting Period are disclosed and explained in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the Code Provision A.6.5 (now rearranged as C.1.4), all
directors should participate in continuous professional development and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
board remains informed and relevant. To ensure the Directors’ contribution
to the Board remain informed and relevant, the Company will be
responsible for arranging and finding suitable training for Directors and
providing for its funding.

The Company will provide a comprehensive package of induction materials
about the duties, responsibilities and liabilities as well as statutory and
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, an individual
training record of each Director is set out below:

B
RIBTANRXEA6SIRCREM RIS C1415)
2REFHALETHEIERR  EFENE R
e UWREEEFEANBEATRESSED
VNERENER - SBREESEANBERTR
SEE2FHVARTENER  ARAKEAERE
ERH - SERBIIRAGEZEIRTES

ARRTHRHEEB LT ARNEF 2 ME B
REH - ARATREEAEZZENBER -

RBEMRMBEARSEY SEFZEASE
AIFDERFIINT

Attending or
participating in
courses/seminars/
conference/
workshops

relevant to rules and
regulations and the
Group’s business/
directors’ duties

Reading materials
relating to rules
and regulations

and discharge of
directors’ duties and
responsibilities

HESSM
RAKEER
ESRERHEZ MERBELZEAR
ERRES EBIR BT
E Y=Y ESRER
a8/ TS Rz
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Wang Xiaog TEEEE v v/
Mr. Ho Yeung fF A v/ v/
Mr. Cai Dan BNELE v /
Ms. Ho Ching falfE 2+
(Appointed on 18 June 2021) (RZZE=—F AT+ N\BEZT) v /
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYEHTES
Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony WFEEE v/ v/
Mr. Lau Chor Ki bt v /
Mr. Wong Kin Kee HERALE v /
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external service provider, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael ("Mr. Tung") as its company secretary. Although Mr. Tung is
accessible by all Directors and the senior management, Mr. Ho Yeung and
Mr. Wang Xiaoqji, our executive Directors, are the principal persons with
whom Mr. Tung liaises with. For the Reporting Period, Mr. Tung has
received relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update
his skills and knowledge.

CHANGE IN AUDITORS IN PRECEDING 3 YEARS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 April 2020 in
relation to the change of auditors, Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
resigned as the auditors of the Company with effect from 14 April 2020. On
the same date, Prism CPA Limited (currently known as UniTax Prism (HK)
CPA Limited) ("UniTax Prism") had been appointed as the auditors of the
Company.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Reporting
Period were audited by UniTax Prism whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that UniTax Prism will be re-appointed as the
auditors of the Company subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company'’s auditors, UniTax Prism, in respect of their audit and non-audit
services was as follow:

RNEAME
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3 G

RIWEHE - ARAFAPBERRGHLEE 18
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B3 AR A2 R BE - AL AR
ERIEFAE L4k -

RI|BEMRE - REZSIFEZRBENHENAAR
NREGHBELES - BEZMEmT

Type of Services HK$’000
BR %% % 5l FER
Audit services EIZRTE 550
Non-audit services IEEIZ RS -
Total Bt 550
ETRHBRAT
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy") with
effect from 1 January 2019. The Dividend Policy allows the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the Company
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth.
According to the Dividend Policy, in addition to the final dividends, the
Company may declare interim dividends or special dividends from time to
time.

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider the following
factors before proposing and declaring dividends:

(i) the Group’s general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

(vi)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Laws of the Cayman Islands, the articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the Board and
there can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy. In designing the
Board's composition, board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All
Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this report, there is one female Director on the Board. In
the future, the Board will continue to pay due regard to the importance of
diversity in identifying potential candidates for directorships and continue
to ensure that gender is one of the factors to be considered in appointing
Directors by the Nomination Committee.

The Board also recognises the importance of diversity at the workforce
level. As at 31 March 2022, the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group
(including senior management) was 62:38 male to female.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board together with the management has developed the Group's
internal control, risk assessment and management systems. The Board has
overall responsibility for reviewing and maintaining adequate and effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board has delegated the responsibility of monitoring the Group's risk
management and internal control systems to the executive Directors and
the management, and the executive Directors and the management will
report to the Board any findings regarding the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group from time to time.

The Board reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the systems at least
annually to ensure the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage and mitigate risks, rather than to eliminate risks, of failure to
achieve the business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. We have employed a bottom-up approach for identification,
assessment and mitigation of risk at all business unit levels and across
functional areas.
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Main features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems include the establishment of a risk management policy and a risk
reporting mechanism to keep track of and document identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the respective responsive procedures,
and the ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness.

The Board has taken into consideration factors including but not limited to
the followings when identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that
affect the achievements of the Group's objectives:

— the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group;

—  the extent and categories of risks that the Board regards as
acceptable for the Group;

— thelikelihood of the risks materialising;

—  the Group's ability to reduce the incidence of risks and the impact
on its business when risks materialise; and

—  the costs of operating particular controls relative to the benefit
thereby obtained in managing the related risks.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, the Board captures and identifies
the key inherent risks that affect the achievement of its objectives by
performing the followings:

— understanding organisational objectives and business processes;

— determining the risk appetite and establishing the risk assessment
criteria;

— identifying the risks associated with achieving or not achieving the
objectives and assessing the likelihood and potential impact of
particular risks; and

— monitoring and evaluating the risks and the arrangements in place
to address them.
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Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems by considering factors including but not limited to the
followings:

—  the changes since the last annual review in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment;

—  the scope and quality of management’s monitoring of risks and of
the system of internal control, and where applicable, the work of its
internal audit function and other third party consultants;

—  the extent and frequency of the communication of the results of the
monitoring to the Board or the Audit Committee which enables a
cumulative assessment on the state of control in the Group and the
effectiveness with which risk is being managed;

— theincidence of significant control failings or weakness that has
been identified at any time during the period and the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies
that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material
impact on the Group's financial performance or condition; and;

—  the effectiveness of the Group's processes relating to financial
reporting and GEM Listing Rules compliance.

In view of the Group's business and scale of operations, and in order to
adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic reviews of
the Group's internal controls, the Board has engaged an independent
consultant, Roma Risk Advisory Limited ("Roma”), to execute the internal
audit function. Roma has conducted an internal control review of the
effectiveness of the Group's financial reporting procedures, systems and
control for the Reporting Period in accordance with the requirements
under Code Provision C.2 (now rearranged as D.2) and the scope of review
agreed and approved by the Audit Committee.
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Roma reported to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee was
satisfied that there had been no major deficiency noted in the areas of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems being reviewed
after implementation of the recommendations on the internal control
deficiency. The Audit Committee reviews annually the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures and has
access to information necessary to fulfil its duties and responsibilities with
respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee and the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be effective and implemented with adequate resources
during the Reporting Period.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information being
maintained until consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

—  Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

—  Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

—  Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group to be operating effectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has followed up on those
recommendations made by the independent consultant as part of its
comprehensive review on the internal controls of the Group. As such, the
Group's internal supervision and risk prevention measures continue to
improve.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period.

The auditors of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities
in the auditor's report contained in this annual report for the Reporting
Period.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
on the re-appointment of the auditors of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

How shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company, any
one or more members of the Company holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the
Board and sufficient contact details to enable these
enquiries to be properly directed

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong at Room 1403, 14/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Board.

Procedures and sufficient contact details for putting
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the Board by written
requisition. Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, a
shareholder or shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures as
set out in the paragraph headed "How shareholders can convene an
extraordinary general meeting” above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy and
considers that effective communication with the Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the Group's
business performance and strategies. The Company has established various
and a wide range of communication channels with the Shareholders. These
include shareholders’ general meetings, quarterly results, interim results
and annual results, quarterly reports, interim reports and annual reports,
announcements and circulars and results announcement. In addition, the
Company updates its website from time to time to keep the Shareholders
updated of the latest information of Company’s recent development. The
Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the
Shareholders. At the annual general meeting, the Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet with the Shareholders and
answer their enquiries. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
has strictly implemented the shareholders’ communication policy in
accordance with relevant requirements by conducting multi-channel
communications with the Shareholders and investors through various
methods, including the issuance of communication documents (such as
announcements and regular reports), updating the Company website, and
convening results announcements and shareholders’ meetings, etc. In view
of the above, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy, and considered
the policy effective.

The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/) and of
the Company (http://www.8050hk.com/).

There are no significant changes in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association during the Reporting Period.
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INTRODUCTION

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of system development services and other value-
added technical consultation services and trading of hardware products.
The Group also has operations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”
or “China”) market in the areas of manufacturing of ancillary high-tech
software and hardware products; developing and establishing integrated
online platforms for the distribution of mobile products and the provision
of value-added services; and setting up joint ventures with multinational
companies to introduce and procure mobile application services.

Excellent Master Investments Limited ("Excellent Master”) is principally
engaged in financing and provision of payroll and administrative services
in Hong Kong and has an office located in Hong Kong.

Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd. (&Y {E48%
REAR AT (“CITIC Cyber Security’) is principally engaged in the
technical development and software development of credible identity
authentication services related products in the PRC. Guangzhou YBDS IT
Co., Ltd. (EMEE(ZERHLBRAE) ("Guangzhou YBDS") and
Shenzhen YBDS IT Co, Ltd. (RYIITT 88 E {5 SR B R A 7)) (‘'Shenzhen
YBDS") are telecommunications companies which construct unified
payment system and platform. All two subsidiaries located at an office in
Shenzhen.
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ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
summarises the Group’s environmental, social and governance ("ESG”)
practices, plans and performance, and demonstrates the Group’s
commitment to sustainable development.

Reporting Period

Unless specifically stated otherwise, this Report covers the ESG activities,
challenges and measures taken by the Group from 1 April 2021 to 31
March 2022 (the “Year” or “2022").

Reporting Scope

The reporting scope of the Report is consistent with that in the previous
reporting year (“2021") and is determined based on the materiality and
revenue contribution of the business segments under the Group's direct
operational control throughout the Year. The Report covers the overall
performance, risks, strategies, measures and commitment in ESG areas of
the Group's offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen, where the Group's
principal businesses are located.
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Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’).

For the preparation of this Report, the Group has adopted the following
reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide:

Materiality: The Group regularly conducts materiality assessments to
identify the material ESG issues to the Group’s business, thereby adopting
the confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of the Report.
The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and Environmental Social and Governance Working
Group (the "ESG Working Group"). For further details, please refer to the
sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and "Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: The standards, methodologies and applicable assumptions
used in the calculation of key performance indicators ("KPIs") data were
supplemented by explanatory notes.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the preparation approach of the
Report is consistent with the previous year for comparison purposes. If
there are any changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation methods
that may affect comparisons with previous reports, the Group will provide
explanations for the corresponding data.

Balance: This Report avoids selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence any decision or judgment by the report
reader.
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MESSAGE FROM THE DIRECTOR

Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present this Report which
demonstrates the Group’s growing commitment to improving the Group’s
ESG performance.

While the Group is committed to creating value for its shareholders, it also
strives to fulfil its corporate social responsibility. The Board is ultimately
responsible for overseeing the Group’s corporate governance and overall
ESG management approach. The Board plays a supervisory role in
collecting data, drafting and reviewing the Report. Information on the
Group's governance structure is set out in the section headed “Governance
for Sustainability”.

In order to prioritise material ESG-related issues, the Board continuously
communicates with the Group’s stakeholders with reference to the
opinions of different stakeholders, and regularly invites them to participate
in the materiality assessment to assess the materiality of various ESG issues
and their risks to the Group’s operations. Information on the stakeholder
communication channels and the materiality assessment conducted by
the Group are set out in the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement”
and "Materiality Assessment” respectively. In order to better understand the
stakeholders’ expectations on the Group’s sustainable development, the
Group will further strengthen the communication with stakeholders and
formulate relevant sustainable development policies and measures with
reference to their opinions to improve the Group'’s ESG performance.
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The Group is committed to minimising its environmental impact to ensure
sustainable business growth. As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group
has been taking measures in different areas to reduce its environmental
impact and regularly reviewing the effectiveness of such measures. In
addition, the Group recognises the importance of setting targets for its ESG
performance. Therefore, the Group has set targets for ESG issues that are
material to the Group. The Board and ESG Working Group use the data
collected to compare the Group's performance in different years to track
the progress of ESG targets. To achieve the ESG targets, the Group
implements different environmental protection measures and raises
employees’ awareness of ESG. The Group believes that these objectives
and environmental protection measures can help raise the environmental
awareness of the Group’s employees and enhance the Group's ESG
performance to meet the expectations of stakeholders.

Wang Xiaoqi
Director
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GOVERNANCE FOR SUSTAINABILITY

The Group has established the ESG Working Group to raise employees
awareness of ESG issues. The ESG Working Group is comprised of senior
management and general staff with adequate knowledge on ESG. Its
members span across different business departments. They are responsible
for executing the Group’s ESG measures, collecting and analysing ESG data,
giving suggestions to the Board on ESG issues and reviewing ESG-related

'

matters across the Group's different departments.

With the assistance of the ESG Working Group, the Board continuously
evaluates and monitors the Group's ESG performance, risk, opportunities
and targets. The members of the ESG Working Group regularly meet each
other to discuss the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and procedures
and seek opportunities to improve the Group’s ESG performance. The ESG
Working Group reports its findings to the Board where appropriate so that
the Board can find solutions to manage the Group's ESG risks and
opportunities.

The Group has established a quantitative ESG performance management
mechanism that includes important ESG indicators to review the Group's
progress on the relevant ESG targets. The ESG Working Group is responsible
for assisting in the execution of the relevant measures to strive to achieve
the expected progress.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability of the
Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build both online and
offline communication channels and to provide stakeholders with timely
reports on strategic planning and performance of the Group in order to
establish a continuing communication mechanism with the stakeholders.
In addition, the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, governments and regulatory
bodies, employees, customers, suppliers as well as society and the public.
The Group discusses with the stakeholders through various channels for
their expectations and relevant feedback of the Group as shown below:

kS

BOERERE BN KEERRE - E8 &P -
HEFUARTERAR - AEEEBEEREN
R &
ERUNNE

BRENHERASENRBERE - &7

Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations

B E BERE HE

Shareholders Annual general meetings and other general Financial results

f& 5 meetings WIS EE
BRBFASREMBREAE Corporate transparency
Financial reports EFERE
B iRE Sound risk management and internal
Announcements and circulars control
NE KRB ToE b E I R AR R

Governments and regulatory bodies

BF R EEH#E

Employees

B8

Customers

5P

Suppliers
e

Society and the public
HERAR

Regular reporting

TE HAE

Written or electronic communication
NEMEKEFHUBE

Public consultation
NREH

Training and seminars

3 FRP2N

=] uJ”&ﬁ'T'ETJL =

Regular performance appraisal

FEHIRIFHS

Customer services hotline and email
BERMEEG R ES
Company website

NSIEEDS

Supplier performance assessment
HIERRIAN G
Tele- conference

EREE

Community investment
HEIRE

ESG reports

BE - takenams

Corporate sustainability

CEAFERR

Compliance operation
/\%E%« AA

Continuous communication
REBR
Beneficial cooperation

LR SE=N(E

Career development

BRER

Competitive remuneration and benefits
BEBRF NN R

Equal opportunity

TEKE

Healthy and safe working environment

EENLZE2TIERERE

Customer rights and interests protection
RIF % PR K& A5

Customer privacy protection
RERPILE

High quality products and services

BEEm LR

Responsible supply chain management
BEMHEREE

Business ethics and credibility
BREERER

Fair bidding

RNEHER

Supplier privacy protection

REHRERMLE

Environmental protection
BRI
Employment opportunities provision

Rt xRS
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MATERIALITY ASSESSME

During the Year, the Group undertook its annual materiality assessment
exercise. This involved conducting interviews and surveys with internal and
external stakeholders to identify the most significant operating,
environmental and social impacts towards its business. The management

and employees who are responsibl

have participated in preparing the Report, and have assisted the Group in
reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG issues and assessing the

importance of these issues to its bus

BEEMFIMA
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FIEEXBMEBREANESE REMLET
B -AEEARERTIZBENEEELERENE
SEBHAHRE  HBHAEEEHNELE - 25
PR e REAFEH  UHGAXFEEYH
HEBRBHENERE - AREFREEEW

RS HeREREE -

NT

e for the key functions of the Group

inesses and stakeholders. The material

ESG topics will be covered in the Report.

High
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Materiality Matrix
EZHEERE

YK

-4
=

2/
g

HRREZ

X
A

Influence on stakeholders’ assessments and decisions
HIFH BT

o5

[ X

(X!

@3

YV,

®
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Low Significance of economic, environmental and social impacts High
1 KE - IRERMeTrENEE T =

Number %  ESGissues B HEREREE Number %  ESGissues BE HEREREE
1 Greenhouse gas (‘GHG") emissions BERE(TAERE) N 9 Training and development B RER
2 Wastes management BEENEE 10 Supply chain management HEEER
3 Energy consumption BRI n Customer satisfaction RPREE
4 Water consumption KEREHR 12 Customer privacy protection ZEBALRE
5 Climate change AR 13 Anti-corruption k&S
6 Employee benefits EEET 14 Corporate governance rEER
7 Fqual opportunity TEHe 15 Community investment HERRE
8 Occupational health and safety  BiERERE 2
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CONTACT THE GROUP

The Group values feedback from stakeholders. If you have any enquiries or
suggestions regarding the Report or the Group's performance in
sustainable development, please feel free to contact the Group by post.
The Group's contact is as follows:

Address: Room 1403, 14/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong

. T YT L "ot

BHEAEE

AEBERHNENRE - B THARESL
AEEEARERRTANKRREEAEHRE
& AR EABTHAEARERE - AEE
Mg ST

ik : HEEFE LT BISIHREARP L1418
1403 &

BFEHEERAT
:%::irg%% 45



I Coss. .. i il o

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

=

46

- eSS |- o L

5 e MERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions

The Group attaches great importance to good environmental
management, and strives to protect the environment to fulfil social
responsibilities of the Group. The Group has formulated the
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to regulate the limited
GHG and non-hazardous wastes generated during operation, so as
to contribute to environmental protection and pursue sustainable
development.

The Group has set an emission target of maintaining or reducing the
total GHG emissions intensity in the next reporting year, using
approximately 17.81 kilogram of carbon dioxide equivalent ("kg
CO,e") per square meter (“m?’) in 2022 as the baseline. Various
sustainable development measures have been adopted to address
environmental responsibilities, including to encourage employees to
switch off the lights after the use of a room to reduce electricity
usage. The Group is committed to continuously improving the ways
these initiatives are being promoted.

During the Year, the major sources of GHG emissions included
purchased electricity (Scope 2) and paper waste disposal (Scope 3).
The Group’s total GHG emissions intensity increased by
approximately 34.72% from approximately 13.22 kg CO,e per m? in
2021 to approximately 17.81 kg CO,e per m? during the Year. The
increase in total GHG emissions intensity was mainly because of the
fact that the Group gradually resumed normal operations in 2022 as
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") pandemic entered the
normalised prevention and control stage.

In addition, the Group has set a waste generation target of
maintaining or reducing the non-hazardous waste intensity in the
next reporting year, using approximately 0.04 kg per m?in 2022 as
the baseline. The Group has introduced measures to raise
environmental protection awareness into its day-to-day operations.
Employees are encouraged to minimise the energy consumption
and paper wastage by ways such as (i) the establishment of general
guidelines for efficient use of resources; (ii) daily cost-saving
proposals such as the prior use of recycle papers for printing and
setting double-side printing as default setting to reduce the use of
paper; and (iii) paperless office initiatives to reduce paper usage.
Furthermore, the Group has encouraged green office concept and
promoted the 3R concept of “reduce, reuse and recycle”. It has
actively reminded its employees of the prevention of environmental
pollution and encouraged waste reduction.
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There was no hazardous waste produced from the operations of the
offices in Hong Kong or Shenzhen. The Group’s major non-hazardous
waste produced from the operations of these two offices was office
paper. The intensity of total non-hazardous waste remained at
approximately 0.04 kg per m?in both 2021 and 2022.

As the Group does not consume a significant volume of water in its
business activities, the Group’s operation did not generate material
discharges into water during the Year. Moreover, the amount of
water consumption of the Group represents the sewage discharge
volume.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to air and
GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The relevant laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong,
the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Water Pollution
Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's
emissions in the Year are shown in the table below:

Air Pollutant Emissions

Since the Group does not own any vehicles or facilities that involve
fossil fuels combustion, no exhaust gas emissions (including nitrogen
oxides, sulphur oxides and particulate matter) are generated.
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GHG Emissions BEREHEK
Indicators (Note 1) Unit 2022 2021
BEBE) B ZEICHF —B—F
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) (Note 2) kg CO,e N/A N/A
BEEAEREHENE (BE)(WT2) A&l ES NEMA ANjE
Energy indirect GHG emissions from electricity kg CO,e 32,118.23 23,721.01
consumption (Scope 2)
AEMEANEREZAEREHNE (HE2) AT_StHRE=E
Other indirect GHG emissions from water consumptionkg CO,e 322.56 37046
and disposal of paper waste at landfills (Scope 3)
(Note 3)
AKRPEEREEREANEMEZAERE AT_StHKES
HepE (#BE3) (Mat3)
Total GHG emissions kg CO,e 32,440.79 24,091.47
RERBBYRASE AT _AbmEE
Intensity of total GHG emissions per m? of floor area kg CO,e/m? 17.81 1322
(Note 4)
YL AEEEENRAEREBHNEETE R & LiREEFHK
(Btaz4)
Note 1: GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and are Mt RERBHERNU—EIRERREMEY

based on, including but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, the
“Sustainability Report 2021” published by HK Electric Investments and HK Electric
Investments Limited and the “Baseline Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids
in China for 2019 Emission Reduction Projects” published by the Department of
Climate Change of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s
Republic of China.
Note 2: Since the Group did not own any vehicles or facilities that involve fossil fuels
combustion during the Year, no material amount of direct GHG emissions was
generated during the Year.
Note 3: As the water supply and drainage facilities of the Group’s offices in PRC and
Hong Kong are managed by the property management company, the Group
did not have water consumption record during the Year, hence other indirect
(Scope 3) GHG emissions during the Year was only sourced from paper waste
disposal.
Note4: As at 31 March 2022, total floor area of offices included in the reporting scope
were 1,822 m? (31 March 2021: 1,822 m?). These data are used for other intensity
calculation as well.
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Wastes BEY

Indicators Unit 2022 2021

et By —g-= —g=—f

Hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 1) kg N/A N/A

ELXEEREMEE (Fit1) NIy NEA TEA

Intensity of hazardous wastes produced kg/m? N/A N/A
per m? of floor area

BYRREEEEEENEEREDRE YNIYE P i A E A

Non-hazardous wastes produced in total (Note 2) kg 67.20 77.18

ELBEREMEE (Fit2) N

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes kg/m? 0.04 0.04

BEERNTE R/ FEFHK

Note 1: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including chemical wastes, Hat1: AEBEHRERRPIBEEFEEEY -

clinical wastes and hazardous chemicals in its operations.

Note 2: This figure represents the major non-hazardous waste produced by the Group, Miat2 -
which is office paper.
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Use of Resources

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment. A number of initiative measures
designed to conserve resources have been introduced to promote
employees’ awareness of the need for resource conservation and
achieve efficient utilisation of resources.

Energy Management

As mentioned in the above “Emissions” section, the Group has
formulated the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the
Environmental Protection Management Measures for Offices to
minimise the electricity consumed by the employees. The Group has
set an energy use efficiency target of maintaining or reducing the
total energy consumption intensity in the next reporting year, using
approximately 22.82 kWh per m?in 2022 as the baseline. To
implement the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy, employees are
required to switch off equipment, including air-conditioners,
computers, printers, photocopiers and lights when they finish work.
Air conditioners are set for indoor temperature between 24 to 26
degrees Celsius in summer, with an aim to reduce electricity usage.
In addition, the Group has encouraged the installation of compact
fluorescent light-bulbs, T5 fluorescent lamps and light emitting
diode ("LED").

The Group's total energy consumption intensity increased by
approximately 32.21% from approximately 17.26 kWh per m?in 2021
to approximately 22.82 kWh per m? during the Year. The increase in
total energy consumption intensity was mainly because of the fact
that the Group gradually resumed normal operations in 2022 as the
COVID-19 pandemic entered the normalised prevention and control
stage.

During the Year, the Group consumed electricity at offices as its
major type of energy consumption and did not consume a
significant amount of direct energy. The energy consumption
performance is summarised below:
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Energy consumption BERUH#E

Indicators Unit 2022 2021
et B —g-=% -®--f&
Indirect energy consumption (Note 1) kWh 41,580.00 31,446.00
B BEIROHRE (et 1) FRBS

Total energy consumption kWh 41,580.00 31,446.00
HEIREFRE TR

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/m? 22.82 17.26
BELRHREEE FEE,FIK

Note 1: Indirect energy consumption represents electricity purchased from external
sources and consumed by the Group.

Water Management

Since the water supply and drainage facilities of our offices in the
PRC and Hong Kong are managed by the property management
company, the Group was unable to obtain water consumption data
in the Year.

Since the Group did not consume a significant amount of water, no
quantitative water efficiency targets were in place during the Year.
However, water efficiency initiatives have been promoted as the
Group has reminded its employees to check the water supply
equipment, keep the water tap off when not in use and arrange for
immediate repairs in case of leakage or other damages.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group's business operation does not involve production
process, no packaging material is consumed by the Group.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite that there is no significant impact on the environment and
natural resources from the operations, the Group has formulated the
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and the Environmental
Protection Management Measures for Offices to strive to reduce the
impact of its operations on the environment. The Group is dedicated
to providing employees a comfortable and green working
environment by cleaning the air-conditioning system including air
filters and air ducts regularly and selecting products with low or zero
volatile organic compounds emitted. Also, the Group encourages all
employees to participate in different kinds of recycling activities to
minimise the use of natural resources.

Climate Change

The Group recognises that climate change has been affecting the
Group's stakeholders, business operations and communities in
different aspects. The Group has formulated the Climate Change
Policy to enhance its ability to respond to climate impacts and
mitigate the risks and impacts of climate change on the Group,
thereby helping the Group to adapt to and resist climate change.
During the Year, the Group has been paying close attention to the
impact of climate change as described below.
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Physical Risks

Extreme weather caused by climate change such as typhoons and
rainstorms may disrupt business operations in the short term. In
order to minimise disruptions to the Group’s business operations,
the Group has put in place a set of contingency measures for
adverse weather conditions as well as appropriate back-up of
important information to minimise the negative impact on the
Group's business.

In addition to the above, the Group is also fully aware that extreme
weather conditions may endanger the health and safety of
employees. Therefore, the Group has formulated comprehensive
typhoon and rainstorm arrangements to protect the health and
safety of employees in extreme weather conditions. The Group also
takes into account the different situations faced by individual
employees under extreme weather conditions as far as possible,
such as residence, nearby roads and traffic conditions, and adopts
flexible treatment methods depending on the actual difficulties and
needs of employees. For example, the Group implements a flexible
off-duty day schedule for employees. At the same time, under
extreme weather conditions, the human resources department will
remind and notify employees of the latest weather conditions
through communication software or emails.

Transition Risks

In terms of legal risks, the Group expects that the laws and
regulations related to climate change will become more stringent,
such as the possibility that local governments may adopt more
aggressive policies and measures to limit GHG emissions. As a result,
the Group may be exposed to legal risks and may have to incur
higher operating costs to comply with regulatory changes. The
Group has adopted a series of measures against possible legal risks.
The Group continuously monitors any changes in laws or regulations.
In addition, the Group has been taking comprehensive measures to
protect the environment, including measures aimed at reducing
GHG emissions. As the Group goes beyond compliance to strive to
improve the environmental performance of its operations, the Group
can quickly adapt to the more stringent regulations that may arise.
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SOCIAL
Employment
Recruitment

The Group has established a comprehensive human resources
management system which requires the employment of employees
based on their experience, qualifications, and knowledge during the
recruitment process. To ensure that the rights and interests of
employees are well protected, employment contracts must be
discussed and agreed with prospective employees regarding salaries,
benefits, annual leaves and other employment related issue, prior to
signing by the employees.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Promotion, Compensation, and Dismissal

Appraisals are regularly performed to consider promotions and salary
increments based on the results of the employees’ performance
reviews. Dismissals of employees have been performed in
compliance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China. The relevant
provisions on termination of the employment are set out in the
employment contract of every staff.

Working Hours, Rest Periods, and Benefits

Both the offices in Hong Kong and Shenzhen are operated under a
five-day work week arrangement with statutory leaves provided such
as annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, in order to allow
employees to have adequate rest periods. The Group has also
provided medical allowance, MPF schemes (for Hong Kong
employees only) and other benefits to employees. For employees in
the PRC, the Group will pay for their “five social insurance and one
housing fund” including endowment insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity
insurance and Housing Provident Fund pursuant to the law in order
to safeguard the benefits of social insurance of employees.
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Equal Opportunities, Diversity, and Anti-discrimination

The Group’s human resources policy states and their management
ensures that no discrimination exists within the Group in terms of
age, sex, marital status, family status, sexuality, disability, nationality
or religion, etc. Any form of discrimination is prohibited during any
of their decision-making processes, including normal operations and
any recruitment process.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 34 employees (including 7
Directors) (31 March 2021: 27 employees (including 6 Directors)), 33
of them were full-time employees and 1 was part-time employee.
The distribution of workforce classified by different categories is as
follows:

By gender
g Edsl
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AREBZANERBRTAMEEEEHE
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Ao~ W - FREAK  BEXRHRES
E T FEEAER - EReERESERE
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R-TE-—_F=—A=+—H AEBEEHKE
342 EE (BRE/ZES) (ZE=_—F=
BA=+t—H:27%EE(BEcRESE))
HhBAEEBEE 1A ABXRBES - %
TRERIEID ZBRE ABSMHINT

By age group
RE#RAR

m Female  ® Male m Under 30 years old m30-50 years old = Over 50 years old
g EXlka 30 E505% 5067 A
By location
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&
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During the Year, the Group's employee turnover rate is as follows: RER > REBESERKIRNT :
2022 2021
Employee turnover rate (Note 1) BERKE(HZE1) —E-= —E-—F
By gender R R &2
Female I 17% 16%
Male St 11% 45%
By age group RERE D
Under 30 years old 30T - 50%
30-50 years old 30 E 505% 20% 34%
Over 50 years old 50BRA L - -
By geographical region Rt E &2
PRC aa 17% 41%
Hong Kong B - -

Note 1: Calculation method of turnover rate: (total number of departures in that year +
(total number of employees at the beginning of the year + total number of
employees at the end of the year) + 2) X 100%

Health and Safety

The Group highly values employees’ health and safety and is always
committed to providing employees with a healthy, safe and
comfortable working environment. The Group strives to eliminate
potential workplace health and safety hazards and implement safety
management measures, such as providing employees with masks
during haze in the PRC, installing air purifiers at offices and providing
medicines for employees in case of sickness, to ensure employees’
health and safety during work. The Group has implemented the
Regulations for Management on Employee Safety and Health to
uphold its people-oriented principles and employees’ health and
safety.

To address the wellbeing of employees working in their offices, the
Group has established a set of health and safety management
practices to enhance their safety management and promote
employee safety awareness and, established safety measures, for
example, they will regularly send emails and relevant materials to
employees to advocate the importance of a safe working
environment.
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During the Year, the number of working days lost by the Group due
to work-related injuries was zero. No work-related fatalities occurred
from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022. The Group will continue to strive
to ensure the safety of its employees.

Under the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group remains highly vigilant to
the potential impact on the health and safety of its employees. Apart
from strengthening the sanitation in the office area, the Group has
provided surgical masks, disinfectant, and alcohol wipes. Besides, the
Group implemented precautionary measures such as temperature
screening before entering the office, and constantly update relevant
policies to keep in line with the government’s guidelines.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards. The relevant laws and regulations
include, but are not limited to, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
Provisions on the Administration of Occupational Health at
Workplaces of the PRC and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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Development and Training

The Group cares about employees’ development and encourages
them to participate in continuous learning through their career. The
Group has its tailor-made [T-related examination system for internal
employees of most of the departments. Apart from this, it has also
provided training courses to employees or subsidised them in
joining external training courses organised by professional bodies.
The Group has established the Company Employee Training
Management Measures to standardise and promote the continuous
and effective provision of training to employees. A training plan is
developed by the management based on the requirements from
various departments and employees. On the other hand, learning
experiences will also be provided to employees through job
allocation, improvements in soft skills will also benefit employees in
their career development in the long run.

During the Year, the Group's employees received a total of 186 hours
of training. The percentage of trained employees and average
training hours completed per employee of the Group by category

R R
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FAEER ARERAEABERESE
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AREE IR A
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are as follows: T
2022 2021

Percentage of employees trained (Note 1) BESEINWET B (FfaF1) g S B
By gender iR 8o

Female % 54% 31%

Male Bt 39% 23%
By employee category RETITEHES

Directors =l 100% 100%

Management BEE 100% 66%

General staff —ET 15% 4%
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2022 2021

Average number of training hours BI Ve RS —E_-_— —E-—F
for employees (Note 2) (Kizt2)
By gender RERIE D

Female g 7.62 385

Male S 483 173
By employee category RETITERES

Directors £ 13.00 6.67

Management EIRfE 1343 722

General staff —RETL 2.00 037

Note 1: Calculation method of percentage of employees trained by category: (number
of employees trained in that category + total number of employees in that
category at the end of the year) x 100%. Training data of directors include those
from executive directors.

Note 2: Calculation method of training hours by category: total training hours of
employees in that category + number of employees trained in that category.
Training data of directors include those from executive directors.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited within the
Group. During the Year, the Group has strictly complied with all
respective laws and regulations regarding the employment of child
labour and forced labour. Further, clauses regarding the prevention
of child labour and forced labour were included in the Employee
Handbook and human resources policies.

Personal data is collected during the employment process to select
suitable candidates and verify candidates’ data. The identity
documents such as physical examination certificates, academic
credentials, identity cards, and account information are carefully
checked in the recruitment process. Furthermore, employees of the
Group working overtime are based on voluntary principles so as to
avoid the violation of labour standards and safeguard the rights and
interests of employees. To prevent any form of forced labour, a job
description outlining the principal responsibilities of the employee is
attached to the labour contract. The Group also prohibits any
punitive measures, management methods and behaviours such as
abusive punishment, violence, mental stress, sexual harassment
(including inappropriate language, posture and physical contact) for
any reason.
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If child labor or forced labor is found to be employed as a result of a
breach of the requirements under the Employee Handbook and
human resources policies, the Group will immediately stop the work
of such child labour or forced labour and conduct investigation.

Each department of the Group has designated personnel responsible
for regularly tracking and understanding the updates of regulations,
and will notify the affected departments in real time to comply with
the latest laws and regulations, and to fully implement the
compliance principle. During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to the prevention of child and forced labour. The relevant
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong and the Employment of Children Regulations of Hong
Kong.

Supply Chain Management

During the operations, the Group encourages its suppliers and
business partners to uphold high moral standards that are in line
with the Group. Therefore, the Group has adopted the Supplier Code
of Conduct, which outlines the sustainability standards and practices
that the Group expects its business partners and suppliers to comply
with. Its partners are all worldwide reputable companies and known
for their ethical standards. In selecting and evaluating its suppliers
and business partners, their attitudes towards environmental and
social issues, including human rights, equal opportunities were also
considered. During the Year, there were a total of 12 major suppliers
and all of the 12 major suppliers were located in the PRC.

The Group strictly follows the procurement procedures to evaluate
the business practices of its suppliers. In the procurement process,
suppliers are assessed based on price, reputation, track record,
initiative to tackle problems, customer service and product and
service quality. During the Year, all of the Group’s 12 major suppliers
were qualified suppliers that met the standards in the Group's
regular evaluation. If the Group discovers any violation of the code
by its business partners or suppliers, the Group will try to
communicate with them to rectify the situation.
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Environmental and Social Risks Management

The Group requires environmentally friendly practices on its
suppliers and business partners. For example, it required its business
partners to be certified with the 1SO14001 or GB/T24001 or other
related environmental management system certifications. During
the supplier and business partner selection processes, it considers
environmental protection as one of the key assessment criteria and
expects the potential impact on the environment to be minimised
during normal operations by its suppliers and business partners. The
Group has also set up health and safety requirements for its suppliers
and business partners, for example, business partners have to be
certified with OHSAS18001 or GB/T28001 or other related
occupational health and safety management system certifications.
The Group regularly reviews the compliance of its supplier
candidates with laws and regulations, including those related to the
environment and society. If the suppliers fail to properly control their
environmental and social risks, they may not be retained in the
Group's list of approved suppliers.

The Group continues to pay attention to the policies implemented
by the local governments where it operates. If the Group finds
information on environmentally friendly products or services
published by the official authorities, the Group will seriously consider
adopting the recommendations of the official authorities to procure
goods and services that have less impact on the environment during
the product cycle. The Group closely monitors the environmental
impacts of its suppliers and explore improvement potential to
further optimise its supplier management practices.
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Product Responsibility

The Group has continuously paid considerable attention to brand
effect and product quality. Besides setting high requirements for its
suppliers and business partners during its selection phases, the
Group has also emphasised product quality improvements, provided
after-sales services to its customers, and has continuously worked
closely with its customers and business partners to solve problems.
The Group has adopted the Shipment and Return Management
System to standardize the Group’s shipment and return procedures
to ensure the fulfilment of sales contracts.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress. The relevant laws and
regulations include, but are not limited to, the Patent Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests, the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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Quality Management

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects are
utmost important for sustainable development of the Group. In
order to ensure that the Group delivers high quality services and
sustainable projects to its customers, the process of the projects is
controlled and monitored regularly. By conducting a series of tests,
actual results are compared with the expected results, so as to
identify any abnormalities and areas for improvement and strive for
excellence. The Group ensure that each customer’s needs are met
and that the standard and outcome of every product is consistent.
During the Year, no recalls of products had taken place.

The Group carefully manages and monitors the quality of products.
All products the Group sells are properly labelled to help the Group
to keep track of its products. If there are quality issues with the
products sold by the Group, the Group can use the label tracking
system to promptly identify the source of defects and the defective
batch of products. When necessary, the products will be recalled to
rectify the issues and prevent recurrence in the future.

Customer Service

The Group continuously improves the quality of its products and
services. If a complaint should arise, the Group will immediately
assess the complaint and conduct an internal investigation into the
matter to identify the source of the issue. If customers are not
satisfied with the quality of products and services or have safety
concerns about products and services, the Group will arrange
sufficient channels and personnel to communicate with customers
in a timely manner and solve the problems as soon as possible.
During the Year, the Group did not receive any complaints from
customers due to product quality or customer service quality.
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Privacy and Intellectual Property Protection

As a responsible service provider, all confidential data related to the
Group's business, financial and customer information are securely
protected and only used for internal purpose. Besides, confidentiality
agreements must be signed between the Group and its suppliers
and business partners to protect customers’ data and privacy.
Employees are trained to maintain the confidentiality of customers’
information.

Regarding the Group’s trademarks, terms in relation to such
intellectual property rights are included in the cooperation
agreements between the Group and its suppliers and business
partners. The Group recognises the importance of intellectual
property protection, so it is dedicated to protecting and enforcing
the Group's own IP rights as well as the IP rights of third party.

The Group regularly reviews the effectiveness of the confidentiality
agreements and the terms in relation to intellectual property rights
to evaluate whether any pattern of improprieties or alleged
improprieties exist that need to be addressed.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations including the
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China and continues to
strengthen fair marketing practices. The Group has regulated the
conduct of marketing personnel in the process of advertisement
release, product sales and contract signing, strictly prohibiting the
dissemination of misleading and ambiguous product information
and excessive commitment, and protecting customers’ information
rights.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2022

RELRBRABERE

ERBEMNRBHER  AREAREX
B REFEMNMBRERBDRRRE
EHAEER - doh  AEREEAHEER K
EBRH T AR RE DS MREEPH
BRILE - EEEXEI - REFPOHERRE

AAKENERME - BREZSNBEEN
R E SN AR B A MR AT
SR EEREN - NEER B RIEMEERE
MBEN - Bt HMBORERITEAE
BEMABER N E =TT HBEE

REE MBS RT W KA B ER IR
B UeHER S FEEASEZFHROT
BORISMTENTR -

EERER

AEBERET(REARRNBEES X)E
ERIOER  THIMBAFEHETE - A%
BARBEHEABRERES  HEEmMME
RIARBETNITR  BEEREREE R
TR AT Em(E R MBEAG - ARRESR
P RIS -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
oo =y A st S/
R g KERME

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to prohibiting any form of corruption such
as bribery, money laundering, extortion, and fraud. As stipulated in
the Employee Handbook, all employees are required to uphold
business integrity, safeguard confidential information and take
reasonable steps to avoid any conflict of interest. The Group believes
that its employees, suppliers, and business partners have maintained
a strong ethical conduct during regular business.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The relevant laws
and regulations include, but are not limited to, the People’s Republic
of China Criminal Law, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong.

There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group's issuer or its employees during the Year.

Corporate Governance

The Group realises the importance of internal control to a zero-
corruption company culture. Information on preventing conflict of
interest is included in the Employee Handbook of the Group and
was distributed to all employees to follow. Besides, during every
tendering process, an Integrity Agreement must be signed by both
the Group and the suppliers or business partners. The Group has
ensured that all relevant parties will act in accordance with its
requirements on anti-corruption in order to prevent any bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering during the operation.

As stated in the Employee Handbook, employees should not have a
financial or other personal interest in a transaction between the
Group and any of its business units and a vendor, supplier, provider
or customer in order to avoid conflict of interest. Employees are
required to declare situation which may present a conflict of interest
to their supervisors and the Board will be notified.
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The Group is committed to raising employees’ awareness through
providing training on ethical conduct and anti-corruption to all
employees and the directors of the Group. The Group's directors and
staff regularly receive anti-corruption training to enhance their
knowledge on anti-corruption legislation as well as necessary skills
to handle ethical dilemmas at the workplace. During the Year, a total
of 11 personnel, including directors and staff, received anti-
corruption training and the total anti-corruption training hours was
approximately 11 hours.

In addition, the Group has formulated a whistleblowing mechanism
that allows all employees to report on any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices, or irregularities to the Board, a
responsible director or the audit committee. Reports and complaints
received will be handled in a prompt and fair manner. Such
mechanism also aims at protecting whistle-blowers from unfair
dismissal, victimisation and unwarranted disciplinary actions.

To monitor the effectiveness of the whistleblowing mechanism, the
Group reviews all complaints received regularly and conducts
investigations if any pattern of improprieties or alleged improprieties
exist that need to be addressed.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible corporate, the Group is committed to
serving the communities where it operates. The Group recognises
the importance of the welling-being of the local communities to the
continuous growth of its business. Therefore, the Group follows its
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy to encourage its employees to
take part in a wide range of community activities. The Group believes
that by participating in community activities, the Group can increase
employees’ awareness of citizenship and build positive value.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not contribute resources
to make community investment due to the social distancing
measures amid the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the Group has
actively considered spending money or time to benefit the
community in the future.
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

e E ()]

BR(RE - HE8REBHREESD

General Disclosures and KPIs ~ Description Section/Statement
TEHE - BEH —REER
HRBERES it B,/ BH
A. Environmental
A R
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA: $HY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—MRIREE ARABERNORZEREBEN  RKRLHHNEDS  AEREEEZYNE Y
EE
@ HE: R
(b) BFHBETABERTENEREERMRA
HIER o
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Not applicable (explained)
BRERIER AL BERIE R KA B R TER (B#E)
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in Emissions — GHG Emissions
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
RERIERA12 HE(BE) R REE (BE2)RERBHNE CABAE) R(WER) B — AERBHER
BE(MASESEN  BERBAE) -
KPIA13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity ~ Not applicable (explained)
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREBIER A3 EFEERENEE UEAE) R(NER)ZE (WUASESEN - TEA(BERR)
SRERIEHE) -
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, ~ Emissions — Wastes
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
HRERIER A4 PRFELAERERENAE UAAE) R (WER)ZE (MAEEEEM - B — BEY
BERMEAE) o
KPI'A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Emissions
BIREBUEREAS PRI BB E B R RRERE L BRI A S5 - R
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a ~ Emissions
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HRERIERALG Wl R EERESEREYN A - MR ZORERRRAES Y
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TELGR  BEH —REER
HRERES

kS

Description

i

Section/Statement

B BH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
EBEA2: ERER

General Disclosure
—MREE
KPI'A2.1

BSE IR AL
KPI'A2.2

RRE R IEIZA22
KPIA23

FRENUIERA23
KPI A24

PSR 1R A24

KPI' A2.5

RSB AUEIR A2S5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BMERER(BIEER  KREAMRME) BBE o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in
total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RENEDMER R/ SMEER(NE  f¥oh) BREUTETR
Kat8) REE (WA ESESEN - FIBRETE) °

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

BRKENEE (MABEESEN  BAREHE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

TP ET M M RE IR AR B R R AE DG L B IRPTERIRE) P 5R
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is it for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

fi At SREGE R 7KOR ERI B AR - ARPTET Ak BE B R R AE
FIELBEAMERIRE SR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

S mAABEMEEE (VA E) & (10ER)

BEEEMKE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EHA3 : RERXARER

General Disclosure

—RE
KPI A3.1

BB BIRIEAS

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EEA4 : RIS

General Disclosure

—REE
KPI Ad.]

BB BIEIZ A4

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources.

BEBETAHRREIARERENEATENBE -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HREBEHHRREIRAERNEAYERERNEREBTENT
B o

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI R EHE SR ARG HBTAEEYENEARGEBEENEE
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HIDER A HETAELFENEARBGHEBER - REHTH -

Use of Resources

BRER
Use of Resources — Energy
Management

BERER —EREE

Not applicable (explained)

TEM(BERE)

Use of Resources — Energy
Management

BRER —ERERE
Use of Resources — Water
Management

BRER —KER
Not applicable (explained)

TER (BRE)

The Environment and
Natural Resources
RIERRAER
The Environment and
Natural Resources

BRERRRER

Climate Change

RIREE

Climate Change — Physical
risks; Climate Change —
Transition risks
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPls

IERER EH -REER

Description

Section/Statement

HRANES b 5,89
B. Social
B.#E
Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : B
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
— MR EE EAFMLRE BEREA TERY RE TS b EE
B AR A R o At 55 38 e AR MO -
@ HBE: R
b) BFHBETABEAYENABERRAM
BB RS o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time), ~ Employment — Equal
age group and geographical region. Opportunities, Diversity, and
Anti-discrimination
MR B RUEIRB BRI BREE (NE2REFRE)  FRANGIREASNES RS -  ERE —TSHE 2t
KRR
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment — Equal
Opportunities, Diversity, and
Anti-discrimination
FRSRAR MIETR B2 BIER - FERER MBS D EIESIRALLE o EfE— FEHRe Sk
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

kS

General Disclosures and KPIs  Description Section/Statement
IRER BE —REER
HMRANES b 5,89
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2: REHEZE
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
— MR ﬁ%%ﬁ?%lﬁﬁ%&%ﬁﬁéﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%m: BERLZE
) BR R
b) BTHEITABERZENEBERIAD
méﬂ
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three  Health and Safety
years including the reporting year.
R AR ME1R B2 BEZF (ARERFR)BFRITHNMABRLE - BERLZE
KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BRERIERB22 AIGEATEAE - BERZE
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they  Health and Safety
are implemented and monitored.
MR MIE1RB23 MR B R RFERL2HE - AREBRTREERE - BEEZZ

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : BERE

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPIB3.1
AR B AUER B
KPIB3.2

P IR 1R 832

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at
work. Description of training activities.

Note:  Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the

employer.

ARRTHER BT TEBEMAMBREENEER - HlRIES -

Kfat - SBAEmE I - AT BIE R EE R B ANRIMERIE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle management).
RURIRESER(NERERE PREBES)EH
b

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category.

IR R EBERE D

PR IIEE R

 BREETHFINOTFHEE

Development and Training

BRRE

Development and Training
LR LA
Development and Training

BRRE

BFEHEERAT
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs  Description Section/Statement
TEHE - BEH - —REER
HRANES b 5,89
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
fEEB4 : &5 TR
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—MRIKE BREMIEET 62T 4T AR
@ BE: R
b) BFHETABERTENHBEEZRRA
BB R o
KPIB4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and  Labour Standards
forced labour.
MR BB B4 iR R E AR E AR R E T RAEHIBT - LT
KPIB4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Labour Standards
FRERIEEB42 WA ERRRIENTEREEBRAMRRE LR LT
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEB5 : HEEEE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Supply Chain Management
—MRIKEE ERMHERAIRE R GRRBE HEpEER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management
F R AE AUE 1R BS.1 iR e S HERHE HERER
KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers  Supply Chain Management
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
FESRAE BT B5.2 R AREREEENEN  MERTARENNHRERHE - URE HERER
AEPINMITRERTE -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along  Supply Chain Management
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. — Environmental and Social
Risks Management
BREBIERB53 R AREBNREESERENRER A ERRNEN - UREART HEREE —RER
RERTTE HeRRER
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products — Supply Chain Management
and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and ~ — Environmental and Social
monitored. Risks Management
MR EUEIRBSA HRAEREREERRESARRERKRGHEN - URBERITR HEEERE —BEX
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs  Description

IEER  EH -REER

Section/Statement

HMRANES b B,/ BH
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEB6 : EmEAE

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

General Disclosure

impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress.

— MR FAMREERNMRBOREERZS  BE  RENLBEEUARER
E%E’\] :
) BOR K
b) ETHEITAREATENHEEERZ LR
méﬂ
KPI BE.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.
B R AR 1R BO.1 BEXCEXEMBHETRARBEFEMMARKNE DL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are

dealt with.

RSB AUEIR B2 BRARERNRRENRFHE ARBETTE

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

RERNIERB63 it B A AR AR B ARV 1B B

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

FSAE MR R BoA S ST B2 M E M BURFF

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

RIREAUEIRBOS IR BEERRERLRBRE - ARBEEMTRERTE -

Product Responsibility

[
2o
i
=}

Product Responsibility

— Quality Management
EmBEE—EE8ER
Product Responsibility

— Customer Service
EmEE —EFRH
Product Responsibility

— Privacy and Intellectual
Property Protection
EmBE — RELER
B

Product Responsibility

— Quality Management
EmBEE—E8ER
Product Responsibility

— Privacy and Intellectual
Property Protection

ERET —RELEX
HRERE
BFEHEERAT

TR FERE 73
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPIs
TESGR  BEH —REER
HRERES

Description

i

Section/Statement

1L

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EmB7 : RET

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPIB7.1

BASE IR IR BT
KPI B7.2

AR RAUIER B2
KPIB73

BIR B IR 1R 873

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

R BRRR - R - MFEROARER

@ BE: R

b) BFHETABERTENHBEEZRRA

BB R o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against

the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of

the cases.

RERBANEBTARHERRE T EEENESFARTOSE KF

REER o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how

they are implemented and monitored.

P& A RRRET - U RBBRTRER X

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HEAESRE TRHENRESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EBEBS : {HERE
General Disclosure
—MREE

KPI B8.1

RASR AR R B
KPI B8.2
AR B NIER B2
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Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
BFAMHELERTBETARENEHEZENRREAERZHEE
B[R R E R o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEREE (0HE BEFEE SIHRK BE - b 8BE)-
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIHRERDAER(MEERIER) -

Quantum Thinking Limited

W

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

RE)S

Anti-corruption — Corporate
Governance
RER—hEER
Anti-corruption — Corporate
Governance
RER—GXER

Community Investment

HREE

Community Investment

HERE
Community Investment
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EEZENSREREEE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi (EBEH 5E4E) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 43, was appointed
as an executive Director on 17 March 2015 and was re-elected on 3 August
2015, 1 August 2017, 30 July 2018 and 5 August 2020 respectively, and a
director of nine subsidiaries within the Group. He has been a business
manager of Guangzhou YBDS IT Co,, Ltd *(BINEHE R AR A7),
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since May 2014. He
has over 15 years of working experience in the telecommunications
industry in China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang was the deputy
general manager of Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Limited
Company* (EXMEHERHZBRAF]) and Beijing Huagin World
Technology Limited Company* (b REE) X i EHE B IR A 7)), both of
which were former indirect subsidiary of the Company, from 2000 to 2014.
Mr. Wang resigned from both companies in April 2014. He obtained a
bachelor degree from Beijing University of Technology (1t JR T 2K &8) in
Computer Controls and Applications. As at the date of this report, Mr.
Wang is interested in 382,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 0.028% of the total number of ordinary shares
in issue of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does not have
any interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang does
not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wang is not connected with
any Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Ho Yeung (i35 4) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 67, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 June 2017 and was re-elected on 3 August 2017
and 5 September 2019. Since 1999, Mr. Ho has been a senior executive at a
leading high-tech software company in China and has held the post of
executive director of a renowned real estate company in China for more
than ten years. Since 1994, Mr. Ho has been on the board of members of
the council at the China Association for the Promotion of Investment. Mr.
Ho was an independent non-executive director of China Gas Holdings
Limited (stock code: 384), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), from 12 December 2012 to
27 November 2017. As at the date of this report, Mr. Ho is interested in
18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares in issue of the Company.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not have any interest in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ho does not hold any other position in
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship
in any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed
above, Mr. Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

EEZNSRERECEE

Mr. Cai Dan (¥53) (“Mr. Cai”), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 March 2021 and was re-elected on 2 August 2021, and has
been the chief technology officer and a director of Shenzhen CITIC Cyber
Security Authentication Co, Ltd* (FRINTIREHELREBR A F) (‘CTIC
Cyber Security”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, since October 2017 and January 2021 respectively. He is
responsible for technical research and development as well as project
implementation and management. Prior to joining CITIC Cyber Security,
Mr. Cai was the chief technology officer of AccessPort Inc.* (B 7
ACCESSPORT #£ =, & 4t) ("AccessPort’) from October 2000 to September
2017. He was one of the founding members of AccessPort and was
responsible for technical research and development as well as project
implementation and management. Mr. Cai obtained a bachelor degree in
Engineering (major in computer science and technology) from Zhejiang
University GITST AE2) in June 1999. As at the date of this report, Mr. Cai is
interested in 682,000 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 0.05% of the total number of ordinary shares in issue of the
Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cai does not have any interest in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cai does not hold any other
position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any
directorship in any public companies the securities of which are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Cai is not connected with any Directors, senior
management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Ms. Ho Ching ({AI1E) (“Ms. Ho"), aged 29, was appointed as an executive
Director on 18 June 2021 and was re-elected on 2 August 2021. She
obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Humphreys
College (now known as Humphreys University), California, the United States
of America in December 2014. Ms. Ho has been working as a representative
of Canfield Securities Company Limited since April 2019. She served as an
Investment Consultant of Convoy Financial Group Limited from March
2017 to March 2019. Ms. Ho is a representative licensed under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “SFO") to carry on Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activities.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Ho does not hold any other position in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in
any public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed
above, Ms. Ho is not connected with any Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony (B F¥ 5 4%) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 52, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 May 2014, and
was re-elected on 23 June 2014, 1 August 2017, 5 September 2019 and 2
August 2021 respectively. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree with
honors in Finance and Accounting from University of Salford, the United
Kingdom and a degree in Executive Master of Business Administration from
Richard Ivey School of Business, The University of Western Ontario, Canada.
Mr. Tse is a member of each of lllinois Certified Public Accountants Society,
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Institute of Accountants
Exchange, Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and Hong Kong
Securities Professionals Association. Mr. Tse is also an associate member of
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants of the United
Kingdom and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tse
has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance and accounting and
has worked for several international accounting firms, investment banks
and The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited. Mr. Tse is currently a
managing director of corporate finance department in Essence Corporate
Finance (Hong Kong) Limited and acts as its principal under the sponsor
regime. Mr. Tse was a non- executive director of China Oil Gangran Energy
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Fairson Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 8132) from 10 January 2014 to 30 April 2015. Mr. Tse was also
a non- executive director of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8147) from 6 October 2014 to 17 July 2017. Mr. Tse is a
responsible officer licensed under the SFO to carry on Type 1 (dealing in
securities) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities.
Mr. Tse does not have any interests in the shares of the Company within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse does
not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
does not hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tse is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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Mr. Lau Chor Ki (#1 % 35 55 4) (“Mr. Lau”), aged 69, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 June 2017, and was re-elected
on 3 August 2017, 30 July 2018 and 5 August 2020. Mr. Lau holds a diploma
in Management from Hong Kong Polytechnic (awarded jointly by the Hong
Kong Management Association), a certificate programme on writing
precisely what you mean from the Hong Kong Management Association, a
certificate of Practice in Chinese Property Laws — a distance learning
certificate programme from the Hong Kong Management Association. Mr.
Lau joined in Hang Seng Bank group (stock code: 00011) and had served in
the group for 40 years from 1973 to 2013. During this period, Mr. Lau
worked in various departments including retail banking, loans department,
credit control and administration. Also, he was a department head
monitoring the central cash of the bank when retired in May 2013. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Lau does not hold any other position in the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and does not hold any directorship in any public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Save as disclosed above, Mr.
Lau is not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Lau does not
have any interests in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Kin Kee (FZE % %) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 69, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 3 April 2018, and was re-
elected on 30 July 2018 and 2 August 2021. Mr. Wong graduated from
Columbia Radio Institute (RF#REL B AR T T2 224R) majoring in radio
engineering in 1978. Mr. Wong has been working for Mitsubishi Electric
Hong Kong Group Ltd (= ZF P& B R A 7)) (formerly known as Ryoden
Electric Engineering Co,, Ltd (& TI2BR A 7)) from 1970 to 2010. He
has been responsible for the company’s China business since 1983. He was
the key responsible person for its subsidiary established in China, his last
position was a supervisor of the executive department and was mainly
responsible for its elevator business. Mr. Wong is currently a director of
Jinxiong Plastic Industry Co.,, Ltd.* ($3%(¥2 ) T2 AR A 7)) and an
executive director of Shenzhen Sanli Mechanical and Electrical Equipment
Engineering Co., Ltd* OFIITT = FIH B R ME T2 B R A F]), both are
agents for electrical products of Changzhou Sanli Electrics Company*
(M =F|FEE2A A)). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong does not hold
any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not
hold any directorship in any public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong is not connected with any
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Wong does not have any interests in the
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors

EEWREE

The directors (the “Directors”) of Quantum Thinking Limited (the
“Company’) submit herewith the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Reporting
Period").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, the Group focused to strengthen its business
development in the areas of trading of high-tech software and hardware
equipment; developing and establishing payment platforms to provide
mobile payment services and value-added services; and setting up joint
ventures with multinational companies to introduce and procure mobile
application services, among others. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group's principal activities during the Reporting Period.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating segments for the
Reporting Period is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group's business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 7 to 16 of this
annual report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 97.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/
reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 87. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options are set out in
notes 30 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 100 and note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company's reserve
available for distribution to shareholders (comprising share premium)
amounted to approximately HK$101,852,000.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

To the best knowledge of the Group, employees, customers and business
partners are the key to continuous sustainable development. We commit
to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with employees, and
work together with our business partners to provide high quality products
and services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and
contribution to the society.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group paid close attention to environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and to
undertake relative social responsibility.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the board (the “Board”) of Directors and management are aware,
the Group has complied with all related laws and regulations in all material
aspects which may have significant impact on the operation of the Group.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group are set out
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted on 1 August 2011 by the shareholders
of the Company under which the executive Directors may, at their
discretion, grant options to themselves and any employees of the Group
entitling them to subscribe for shares representing up to a maximum of 10
per cent of the shares in the Company in issue as at the date of approval of
the Share Option Scheme. The purpose of the share option scheme is to
enable the Company to grant options to participants as incentives and
rewards for their contribution to the Company or its subsidiaries.

No options were granted under the share option scheme since its adoption
by the Company or outstanding, lapsed, cancelled or exercised at any time
during the Reporting Period.

The Share Option Scheme remained in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on 1 August 2011, being the date on which it was adopted
and has expired on 31 July 2021.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi

Mr. Ho Yeung

Mr. Cai Dan

Ms. Ho Ching (Appointed on 18 June 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony
Mr. Lau Chor Ki
Mr. Wong Kin Kee

Pursuant to Articles 84 (1) of the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Wang Xiaoqi, Mr. Ho Yeung and Mr. Lau Chor Ki shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, Mr. Wang
Xiaoqi is also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries. The other director of
the Company’s subsidiaries during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this report was Mr. Li Kwan Shing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this report, the Company has entered into a letter of
appointment with each of the current independent non-executive
Directors, namely, (a) Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2022, (b) Mr. Lau Chor Ki for a term of three
1 June 2020, (c) Mr. Wong Kin Kee for a term of
1, and subject to retirement by

years commencing from
three years commencing from 3 April 202
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Wang Xiaoqi presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Wang Xiaogi will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Ho Yeung has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2020, and subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles of
association.

Mr. Cai Dan presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Mr. Cai Dan will be
determined with reference to his qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

Ms. Ho Ching presently does not have a fixed term of service with the
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company. The remuneration of Ms. Ho Ching will be
determined with reference to her qualifications, experience and duties and
responsibilities in the Group and prevailing market conditions.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 75 to 78.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company (the ‘Remuneration Committee”) with reference to their
relevant qualifications, experience and duties and responsibilities in the
Group and prevailing market conditions.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2005 and the
Company had adopted a revised specific terms of reference on 2
December 2013 in accordance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the requirements set out under Code Provisions.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr.
Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau Chor Ki and Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which any of the
Company's holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or a connected entity of the Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any
time during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, at no time during the
Reporting Period were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, (i) Mr. Wang Xiaoqi is interested in 382,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.028% of the total
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue; (i) Mr. Ho Yeung is
interested in 18,083,500 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 1.333% of the total number of ordinary shares of the
Company in issue; (iii) Mr. Cai Dan is interested in 682,000 ordinary shares
of the Company, representing approximately 0.05% of the total number of
ordinary shares of the Company in issue. Save as disclosed above, none of
the other Directors or their respective associates and the chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "SFO")) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the minimum standards of dealing by directors of the Company as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OR
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as the Directors are aware of and having made
due enquires, the following persons had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO and/or
were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the issued share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
any other members of the Group:
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(Note 2) (Note 3)
(Hfa2) (Kt 3)

Happy On Holdings Limited ("Happy On”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner

Happy On Holdings Limited ([Happy On |) (Fff 5% 1) E=HEBA 987,388,771 (L) 72.83%

Mr. Chan Foo Wing (“Mr. Chan”") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation

BREREE(TREED REEEEER 987,888,771 (L) 72.83%
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Notes:

1. As Mr. Chan is the ultimate beneficial owner and the sole director of Happy On, by virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Chan is deemed to be interested in the 987,888,771 shares held by Happy
On.

2. “L" means long positions in the shares.

3. Based on 1,356,250,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2022.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, the largest and the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 58% and 96% of the Group's total
purchases respectively. Sales to the largest and the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 35% and 90% of the Group's
total sales respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or substantial
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) of the Company had an interest in a business which competed with
or might compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as required under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

PRS-

1. FARRE A BHappy On 2 B EmBEEARE—ES -
IRIRE S S EG] - PR AW ARER Happy On FTiE A
2.987,888,771 BRAAD P A HERS ©

(INEE v sy -

N

w

BEBEARAAR-_ZT_—_F#=A=+—HE2 %17
1,356,250,000 B AR {3 5T & ©

EEEYN
REs 80 - T AT A A W RA D R £
ZERNIAEERS BEMZERRTRAL -

EIREFRHKER

R|EHHE - AEBRARARNEER D BIMG AR
E BB AEEAI58% X 96% o REBRZKANRAAE
P2 HERE D BIMG AN E B H S B EE A 35% [ 90% °

ERERRERE 2 EMBEALREMBIR (BLE
SFARMER A RR D BITRANS% A L) BEER
AEEAAHERAREFPER T EDER

EERBRFERB P 2ER

REEE BRESRAR AT EREAES
&8 B% AL GER R GEM £ A A E A%
EEBEERIRTEELRE L EHRHAE
e -
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the
benefit of any Directors (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or
of its associated company (made by the Company).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in May 2000, and the Company had
adopted a revised specific terms of reference as of 10 January 2019 in
accordance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

At present, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony, Mr. Lau
Chor Kiand Mr. Wong Kin Kee, all of whom are independent non- executive
Directors. Mr. Tse Yee Hin, Tony is the current chairman of the Audit
Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out
in the corporate governance report on pages 17 to 36 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022, the financial statements of
the Company had been audited by UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited
(formerly known as Prism CPA Limited) whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution to re-appoint
UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited (formerly known as Prism CPA Limited) as
the auditors of the Company will be proposed to the shareholders of the
Company for approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Xiaoqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 20 June 2022
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Summary Financial Information

MIEERE

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

AEEBEREAMRFERZCAMEENREE
BEMEEERES (B ERERMHRER) 2

extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out below: =R/
FINANCIAL SUMMARY HREE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE T - F=-A=1+—HIFE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—B--f —T-F ZTITF ZTNF ZT)NF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET FHEIT
(restated)
(&E75)
RESULTS ES
Revenue Wz 32,800 41,242 26,556 12,256 17,258
(Loss)/profit before taxation B %+ Al (E518) ¥ A (21,920) 6,345 (33,225) (34,232) (12,703)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfiE e, (BsZ) 5 15 606 (229) 431
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER),EF (21,915) 6,360 (32,619) (34,461) (12,272)
Attributable to: AN AL
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ P =N (18,189) 16,703 (26,710) (22,928) (8,519)
Non-controlling interests ~ FEIEIRHE RS (3,726) (10,343) (5,909) (11,533) (3,753)
(21,915) 6,360 (32,619) (34,461) (12,272)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ER&®E
Total assets BEE 58,207 62,017 89,277 112,611 192,073
Total liabilities wEE (54,956) (37,125) (98,718) (89,828) (141,576)
3,251 24,892 (9,441) 22,783 50,497
Attributable to: AR AT
Owners of the Company PA/NEIE 2= DN 10,707 28413 11,892 39,463 64,654
Non-controlling interests ~ FE¥Z IR #E %S (7,456) (3,521) (21,333) (16,680) (14,157)
3,251 24,892 (9,441) 22,783 50,497
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BN B S =

U&?f ‘ %@Prism

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QUANTUM THINKING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantum
Thinking Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 97 to 200, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
HEETEE

BRETSEE)
How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERNETNAEERARENSE

Revenue recognition from project-based system development contracts

Refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 109 to 113.

We have identified revenue from project-based system
development contract as a key audit matter as the amount is
significant to the consolidated financial statements as a whole
and there are significant degree of management judgement
exercised by the management of the Group in determining the
total outcome of the system development projects as well as the
percentage of completion of system development and the
amount of contract revenue recognised in profit or loss.

As stated in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion of contract
costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Accordingly, revenue recognition
on contract revenue involves a significant degree of management
estimates and judgment, with estimates being made to assess
the total contract costs and stage of completion of the contracts.

The Group has recognised revenue from project-based system
development contracts of approximately HK$15,118,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2022,

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the recognition of
revenue in profit or loss.

We have discussed with the project managers and the management
of the Group and sample checked the supporting documents,
such as system development contracts and payment certificates
to assess the reasonableness of the management’s estimation of
the budgeted revenue and total budgeted contract costs.

We have recalculated the percentage of completion based on
accumulated actual cost incurred to date over the total budgeted
contract cost.

We have assessed the reliability of management’s assessment in
total budgeted contract cost by considering the historical actual
costs and estimation of total budgeted contract costs of
completed project.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
HEETEE

BRETSEE)
How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERNETNAEERARENSE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
HEETEE

BRETSEE)
How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERNETNAEERARENSE

Loss allowance on trade and other receivables and contract assets

Refer to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies from pages 128 to 133.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group's trade
and other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$18,686,000, HK$2,582,000 and HK$574,000 respectively, net of
accumulated loss allowance on trade and other receivables and
contract assets are approximately HK$383,000, HK$813,000 and
HK$6,000 respectively.

We have identified the loss allowance on trade and other
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter because the
amount is significant to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole and there is involvement of a significant degree of
management’s judgements and estimates involved in assessing
the expected credit loss ("ECL") model, based on the historical
credit loss experience and forward-looking information specific to
the debtors and their economic environments.

Our audit procedures were designed to review the management’s
assessment of the ECL model adopted for the loss allowance on
trade and other receivables and contract assets.

We have obtained an understanding of the methodology used,
its development processes and relevant controls adopted by the
management of the Group in the ECL model.

We have also assessed the reasonableness of assumptions and
judgements made by the management of the Group on the ECL
model adopted, parameters selected and the internal credit rating
used. We have also examined the key data used in the ECL model
on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and reasonableness.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter
HEETEE

BRETSEE)
How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERNETNAEERARENSE
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Fan Chi Hang Stephen.

UniTax Prism (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fan Chi Hang Stephen

Practising Certificate Number: P06144

Hong Kong
20 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e BnMEMEE NS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &2 =ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE F#&xT FHT
Revenue W= 7 32,800 41,242
Cost of sales $HEE Ak AN (28,921) (37,805)
Gross profit EF 3,879 3,437
Other income L PN 8 2,416 9,608
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 28 233 20,124
Distribution costs 7 SHRC AN (217) (213)
Administrative expenses THAX (26,251) (25,584)
Impairment loss on financial assets SREERRERE (878) (309)
Finance costs 7% 8 A 9 (1,102) (718)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BBLE (BE),ER (21,920) 6,345
Income tax credit Frigtife 10 5 15
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) &R 11 (21,915) 6,360
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: LI~ A TS F R (EiB),
A
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZS DN (18,189) 16,703
Non-controlling interests R (3,726) (10,343)
(21,915) 6,360
Other comprehensive income Hit2mEWR =
Items that will not be reclassified B Treg B2 Bn
subsequently to profit or loss HyIE H
Exchange differences arising on S EmE MmN EERE
translation of financial statements BEVEERELERN
from functional currency to b H Z5E
presentation currency 247 524
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKS
for the year 247 524
Total comprehensive (expense)/income £REH (HX) %58
for the year (21,668) 6,884
Total comprehensive (expense)/income BT A TELEERZE
for the year attributable to: (BAX), W45
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE SN (17,719) 17,894
Non-controlling interests FEIE I R (3,949) (11,010)
(21,668) 6,884
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable Z& 2 T)# A AfEG
to the owners of the Company R (5E) BA
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B R s (B0) 15 (1.34) 123
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR

Asat31March2022 R-ZZT-_—_H=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= —E——
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment R N & 16 1,503 3,524
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 1,374 1,940
Intangible assets B EE 18 14 28
Goodwill EES 19 - -
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 2,891 5492
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b e RIS 20 23,870 8,830
Contract assets BB E 21 574 225
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEBRZD
profit or loss TREE 22 22,894 28,623
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRS 23 7,978 18,847
Total current assets REBEEHAE 55,316 56,525
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables 25 R EMENFIA 24 53,503 34,349
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 1,355 1,654
Contract liabilities aHEaE 25 - 690
Financial liabilities at fair value through BEAFEFABRRN
profit or loss TRIAE 26 - -
Income tax payable FEATFTIS TR 18 23
Total current liabilities BWREBERE 54,876 36,716
Net current assets RBEEFE 440 19,809
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERS 3,331 25,301
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 80 409
Net assets EEZFHE 3,251 24,892
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

Asat31 March2022 R-ZZT-_—_F=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —TE-—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET FAET
Equity =
Share capital A& 7R 30 135,625 135,625
Reserves & (124,918) (107,212)
Equity attributable to owners KABHEE AEEER
of the Company 10,707 28413
Non-controlling interests IR ER (7,456) (3,521)
Total equity BB 3,251 24,892

The consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 200 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 June 2022 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Wang Xiaoqi
TBH

Director

EF

FOE0ELAVBHRREETEN T _—

—=

FRAZTHEERRENZ  YH TIEER

REE

Ho Ching
A4k
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE \ /4>
GABRBBE
M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HEZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN
Non-
Share Share  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
BR& REEE SRR RiEE B/t FERER BE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

At 1 April 2021 W-ZE=--FMA—-H 135,625 99,935 (5,630) (201,517) 28,413 (3,521) 24,892
Loss for the year FREE - - - (18,189) (18,189) (3,726) (21,915)
Other comprehensive Hh2EEA/(BX)

income/(expense)
Exchange differences arisingon Bt 3R&R e &4

translating of financial RERZFIEH

statements from functional EANELZSE

currency to presentation

currency - - 470 - 470 (223) 247
Total comprehensive income/ £R2ERA,/(Bix%)

(expense) for the year g - - 470 (18,189) (17,719) (3,949) (21,668)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wik —FM B A A

(note 27) (PzE27) = = = - - (460) (460)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 28) & Bt B A & (Fff 3t 28) - = 13 = 13 474 487
At 31 March 2022 R-E-—F

=ZA=+-H 135,625 99,935 (5,147) (219,706) 10,707 (7,456) 3,251

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARHEB AR
Non-
Share Share Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve losses Total interests Total
ey Btr & (E R ZitER @at EERER e
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZEEMA—H 135,625 99,935 (5448) (218,220) 11,892 (21,333) (9,441)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRET/(FE) - - - 16,703 16,703 (10343) 6,360
Other comprehensive Ht2EBA(BX)
income/(expense)
Exchange differences arisingon BT TRk FRIN AL & &

translating of financial MERZIEE

statements from functional FEANELZSE

currency to presentation

currency - - 1,191 - 1,191 (667) 524
Total comprehensiveincome/ FR2EK A/ (BX)

(expense) for the year @ - - 1,191 16,703 17,894 (11,010) 6,884
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 28) & Bif B2 & (Fff % 28) - - (1373) - (1373) 28822 27,449
At 31 March 2021 RZBE--F

=R=+-H 135625 99,935 (5630) (201,517) 28413 (3,521) 24,892
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEeERERER

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #HEZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—=E- —E - —F
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
F#&xT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETER
(Loss)/profit before taxation MFiE (EE) 8 A (21,920) 6,345
Adjustments for: KBTS IERE
Depreciation of plant and equipment [ K i I E 2,151 3,395
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREENE 2,436 2,077
Amortisation of intangible assets A EEH 14 13
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries R B A A (233) (20,124)
Investment income from financial assets at fair REZAFEFTABENERHEE
value through profit or loss KR E YA (701) (820)
Gain on lease modification %ﬂ%ﬂ%ﬂ&uﬁlé - (631)
Interest income from bank deposits IRITE AT B A (10) (200)
Income from waived of lease repayment %ﬁﬁ%ﬂgﬁfkﬁﬂﬂlﬁé (140) (128)
Impairment loss on financial assets TRVE ERRERTE 878 309
Finance costs Hﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ 1,102 718
Operating cash flows before movements in BEESEFHINLERERE
working capital (16,423) (9,046)
Increase in trade and other receivables ‘féf 5 N H i E Y ZRIE 1S N (15,511) (17,997)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets BHEE M), R (340) 1,032
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 K M e RIR AN 16,888 15,801
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHBEECRD), 1N (706) 404
Cash used in operations MEXBBANRE (16,092) (9,806)
Income tax refund BREFER = 15
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES &% ZBHBANESBE (16,092) (9,791)
m N
L tiEas 101
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= AT A B
HeBRTRMER

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

EEE——— i

2022 2021
—E-CfF —T-—F
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
F#&xT FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through B AR A FET AR S MEE
profit or loss (85,199) (8,011)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary g —RIM B AT NRES mA TR
(note 27) (FfE27) 6 -
Net cash outflows from disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRARIMIRE R L FE
(note 28) (Bt&E28) (12) (257)
Purchase of plant and equipment BEREREE (20) (170)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair & BIR A FEF A BRI EER
value through profit or loss FriS I8 91,991 10,774
Investment income from financial assets at REBRATEFABGNESREERN
fair value through profit or loss FERA 701 820
Interest income from bank deposits IRITIFRHF B HA 10 200
NET CASH GENERATED FROM INVESTING REZBAENREFH
ACTIVITIES 7,477 3,356
FINANCING ACTIVITY RESER
Repayment of lease liabilities HEABRENK (2,487) (2,279)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITY METHDANREFH (2,487) (2,279)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEMHL FH
EQUIVALENTS (11,102) (8,714)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FHRERASEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 18,847 28,260
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEEHNTE 233 (699)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRASRBESEEY
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY (BRTHEBRERAE)
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 7,978 18,847
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRReESENEHRIW
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents ReKASEEY 7,978 18,847
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Quantum Thinking Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 8 May 2000 and its
shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 24 July 2000.

The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of the principal place of business of the
Company is situated at Room 1403, 14/F, Capital Centre, 151
Gloucester Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Happy On Holdings Limited (‘Happy On”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Company is an investing holding company. Its major operating
subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the provision of system
development services and other value-added technical consultation
services and trading of hardware products.

The functional currency of the Company and the subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong are Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") while that
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") are Renminbi ("RMB’"). For the purpose of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) adopted HKS as
its presentation currency which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

mEEE
EFRHEERAR(ERATR N RZZEZTEF
FANBREFAEHEERERAZE
(—NAR—FFBIFVEN - L4586 RIEFT)1E
FERSAMKIIARREERAR - HIR
PR-ZBEZEEFLA - TNARETEBRER
SEERAF ([BRAT]) GEM LT o

AR A R B E R L R Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands © &K AR A) F B & %
WEGU I N E BB E LITE IS RER
1418 1403 F ©

RAREZRA  ARFNEEZERAFR
& 442 f& A 7] A Happy On Holdings Limited
([HappyOn)]) - EREBR LB SEMK
T o

ARRBH/—HREZER AT - HXE2EW
BAREENERM ARSI
ERMERRBAREER M ER -

AR R & B M AL H B A R DD RE
BRABIT MRPEARLMNE(THE])
RIZMB ARG EE RARE - 312
IR HERME - ARRNREMEAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time, the
following amendments to HKFRSs, issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") where are effective for
the Group's financial year beginning 1 April 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material effect on the Group's financial performance and
positions for the current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

104 Quantum Thinking Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendment to HKFRSs

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and the related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract!

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 cycle!

Merger accounting for common
control combination*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
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BEEGEE 1RNER] BEIBARDR
ERBRAEEEE

REZSSAAEEBET
(ZE-_ZF)%
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HE!
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EH) BHRRA
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“T-)\Fz
—E-TFRBN
FEME
GEHESIE S5 (CIER])  HREEHIA G
BHETE

! RZB-_ - A - Bz RARNFERHRE

23

: RZB-_=%—-A - Bz &ARNFERHEE

23

: A TR AR TE A2 R H EARE AR A 4R 2 BT AR

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for common control combinations that occur on or after beginning of

the first annual report period on or after 1 January 2022

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Company Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets at fair value
though profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value though profit
or loss that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:

power over the investee;

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group's returns.

Quantum Thinking Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non- controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect a
business combination are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured either at fair value or at the
present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or groups of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit (“CGU") (or groups of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU (or groups of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or groups of CGUs). Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods and
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services to a customer. Specifically, the Group uses a five-step
approach to recognise revenue:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a

performance obligation
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or
a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:
Sales of hardware products;

Revenue from system development and consultancy services;
and

Revenue from maintenance services.

Sales of hardware products

Revenue from sales of hardware products is recognised at a point in
time when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers.
Control of the goods is considered transferred to customers at the
time of delivery.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from system development and consultancy services

Revenue from system development and consultancy services were
recognised over time.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
(Input method)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method. Input methods
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation (for example, resources
consumed, labour hours expended, or costs incurred) relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation. The Group's efforts or inputs are expended evenly
throughout the performance period, the Group recognise revenue
on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from maintenance services

The Group enters into fixed price maintenance contracts with its
customers. Customers are required to pay in advance and the
relevant payment due dates are specified in each contract. Revenue
is recognised at a point of time based on the maintenance service
period.

Warranties

If a customer has the option to purchase a warranty separately, the
Group accounts for the warranty as a separate performance
obligation and allocates a portion of the transaction price to that
performance obligation.

If a customer does not have the option to purchase a warranty
separately, the Group accounts for the warranty in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets unless
the warranty provides the customer with a service in addition to the
assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon
specifications (i.e. service-type warranties).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Warranties (Continued)

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations are
recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group's obligation.

For service-type warranties, the promised service is a performance
obligation. In that case, the Group allocates a portion of the
transactions price to the warranty.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the
contract or modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. The
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. The lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate,
initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment
to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or
change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using revised discount rate.

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate
or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a
change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to
dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to
lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of
the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased assets
at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase options, the
cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to plant and
equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Lease modification

Except for Covid-19-related concessions in which the group applied
the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease modification
as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to
office buildings and premises. Leases for which the Group is a lessor
are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (ie. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income/a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect
of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period the
related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method for the
plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see the accounting policy in
respect of impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets below).

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimate useful lives. The
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash, as defined
above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than
impairment of goodwill set out in accounting
policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets (other than
impairment of goodwill set out in accounting
policy of goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGU, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value-in-use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss was recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments $RITHA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the SRHEENSRAEBNEEEEEKATLEA
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity EUNEX ZETH AR EiEs Gk ki
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Ao

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"), and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost
if both of the following conditions are met:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

U]

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses
("ECL"), through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by
discounting the estimated future cash flows, including ECL, to
the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which
the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using
the effective interest method of any difference between that
initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the
amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

U]

Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest

method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
the Group recognises interest income by applying the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does
not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the
financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “Other income” line item (note 8).

3.

BEXREFBE(R)

£WMIA (&
ERMEE (H)
BEHK AT BN BAE (BFTA) (&)

(i)

B SER AR BB FIR L ()

HIR R A R IR A FER A RE
fo2m et EMER TANFE K
ATERBERFZEMER - BEX
BEZEERESHEENINE R
BEMS MEKRANECREERR
HEERERNRFE  ERRERE
EREMNEREERINETX) 5
HepLREERENSREEMS
MBBRAZBHERNETEREZSR
BEBHKA T IARER o MERER
EHR FEREERTIANEER
BE UBEmMEETHBLREER
AR - RIS AE B S BRI X &
RESRMEERAAETARER

IBERBENEERESREE
AEBFERANRERESEELH
BEERNXEREZCHEERFENA
ERFBUA - ERREREEN
FERARHEEEREETHEER
B FEETEAEAEEE-

A EWARE R
HA (K&E8) °

AR ET AT EAMUA

BFEHEERAT
:z@::ir«g%—g 127

. T YT L "ot



I Coss. .. i il o

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

128

- eSS |- o L

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically, debt
instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the
FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 6.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments in
debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The
ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate to the Group's
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or
the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a
financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the
asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Quantum Thinking Limited
Annual Report 2022

BEXREFBE(R)

£WMIA (&

ERMEE (H)

EE =R AEE ()
BEYEBABRTHEBETNEIR
iETFENEBARE - LB RIMER

B DA EEREE - AEBRER RE
HNFEEEB30 B SREEEERR
EBYREREREREN  RIFARERE
EAAEENENERR TRERE R -

BEML - WRHREANBEEEBTANE
EREREM - AAKBREZES TANE
B E\fe B 1) 2 R AR I SR E IR 0 © i ()
TR T RZEORBRIEN - () ERAERHA
Bt NBTTH A LIRS M EFH A K (i)
REMBERREORATNE S A EERY
EREEFABRTANRACRERH 28
N AEBTAER REERREN - A%
BRR  ERBERAAMNESE  BENI
MEEFEAS REMR] - IEEIMNLFE -
BEMNABEETRR BT MZEHT
HAREREEERR - [EIT| BRERZY
FTRBEBRRNHMBEAN A EBAMEE -

AEETHEZERANENEERREEERE
MR ENBRE  WEEHEELE
7] ARERZFERER BB BIEE
R ROBE LN -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is
no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets' gross
carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee
contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to
be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on
historical trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flow used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected
loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for
a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to
receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that
the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVLTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does
not qualify for derecognition or when the continuing involvement
approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting
policies set out below.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies, (ii)
held-for-trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination
may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group'’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or
losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in profits or losses
to the extent that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liability is
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination, (i) held-for-trading, or (iii)
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

BEXREFBE(R)

£WMIA (&

THEERESTA (B

B FEAARRAEZBEE (E)

AR BLEER/BRAFEFAREZNESREA
EME  ZRENEERRESHEHNE A
BENATEEH S AR MEERE
BIEREMEEREHRZAEEERRE
BNFESELHBARETNEHER -
BEATENFSRSENERTER - RE
fEEREERNSRABEEERREERN
RYPEZHPEERTIEEF I BERD A
R ERRIERZEREEREREERY
R -

BEt& I i At B2 B R (&

W I () EBAGFR BT A RE - ()5
EEBERSE  H(NEERRAFEFAR
S ERAE - BERIZEHERANRAERT

REHE -

ERFEELAECRA ENBHERA LR
BRI NBFRXHIE - BREMETS
SN2 B B B TRRHE A S B s BE B (40
BR)XANEETERREFR(BEMERE
REBERMNENDNABRERREE
RHpRAREMEERITE) ERUERESD
A EBHERARANH K -

=

RIFER T MR E
BERERAEBNEERER - BUESEW
B AEELHERILERSRAE - KRILHE
ANTRAERAEED N REMNREZRE
MER(EREMEERENIFERSEERN
EENEE) NMEEARER

BFEHEERAT
TR FERE

135

. T YT L "ot



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

136

- eSS |- o L

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. At the end of the
subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are
measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation (if appropriate) recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except net realisable value of inventories
and value-in-use of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group
categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on
the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

System development contracts revenue recognition

The Group recognised contract revenue and costs by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the accumulated actual of
contract costs incurred for work performed to date over the
estimated total contract costs. Notwithstanding that the
management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract
revenue and costs for the system development contract as the
contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms of
its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the estimates
and this will affect the revenue and profit recognised.

Impairment of plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the end of each
reporting period. Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the
carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value-
in-use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the
expected future cash flows from the asset or CGU and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are approximately HK$1,503,000 and
HKS$ 1,374,000 respectively (2021: HK$3,524,000 and HK$1,940,000
respectively). Based on the estimated recoverable amounts, no
impairment loss in respect of plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets has been recognised in profit or loss (2021: nil).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Estimated useful life of plant and equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the Company
review the estimated useful life of plant and equipment with finite
useful life. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimates of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s plant and equipment. The
residual values reflect the directors’ estimated amount that the
Group would currently obtain from disposal of the assets, after
deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already
of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.
The carrying amounts of plant and equipment with finite useful life
as at 31 March 2022 are HK$ 1,503,000 (2021: HK$3,524,000).

Allowance recognised in respect of trade and
other receivables and contract assets

The impairment provisions for trade and other receivables and
contract assets are based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group's historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables and contract assets are approximately
HK$18,686,000 (2021: HKS$5,493,000), HK$2,582,000 (2021:
HK$1,883,000) and HK$574,000 (2021: HK$225,000) respectively, net
of accumulated loss allowance of approximately HK$383,000 (2021:
nil), HK$813,000 (2021: HK$309,000) and HKS$6,000 (2021: nil)
accumulated loss allowance respectively.

Impairment loss on trade receivables and other receivables and
contract assets approximately HK$376,000 (2021: nil), HK$496,000
(2021: HK$309,000) and HK$6,000 (2021: nil) respectively has been
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Fair value of financial liabilities

As described in note 6, the directors of the Company use their
judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for
financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation
techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
Financial liabilities are valued using a discounted cash flow analysis
based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable
market price or rates. The estimation of fair value of financial liabilities
include some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The carrying amount of the financial liabilities as at 31
March 2022 is nil (2021: nil). Details of the assumptions used are
disclosed in note 6. The directors of the Company believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair value of financial liabilities.

Income taxes

As disclosed in note 29, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$175,375,000 (2021: HK$183,263,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams as at 31 March 2022. The realisability of the
deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary difference will be available in the future.
In case where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the year in which such a
reversal take place.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. BEXEREE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able AEBEBREERUBRAEBEIFEL
to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to & RIS E B E L E S AR A B B S E AR
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity HHEIEHE AL - B E—FEAEK - RNEFH
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior R RE RS A IF TN -
year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of trade and other AEBEMERGEEBIENT4MEENES
payables disclosed in note 24 and cash and cash equivalents REAMFENTKIE - Wi 23R EANIR S IR
disclosed in note 23, and equity attributable to the owners of Group, SEEY  URARFHEE AELEZ (R
comprising issued capital and reserves. BEBITRAKEHE) -
The directors of the Company review the capital structure RARESRTHRAERERERE - (EAEHRK
periodically. As part of the review, the directors of the Company —H o ARAREBEEEARMA N HEZLE
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class ERBEBANRR  TIELESTEARAE
of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group's capital RIERERE - BIEBEARARAFEEHES X~
structure. Based on the recommendations of the directors of the EEEEBFEREL KB NEBEITHRGDFE
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through EHERBEREE -
use of debts, payment of dividends and issuance of new shares.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €RITH
Categories of financial instruments SRMIANSE
2022 2021
—Z-= T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEK AT ENSREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BHERERESEEY) 29,246 26,223
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEGABRN SR EE 22,894 28,623
52,140 54,846
Financial liabilities cEAas
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost REEKAGTENEMERAE 53,503 34,349
Financial liabilities of FVTPL BRAFEFABENSRERE
Designated as at FVTPL (see note 26) BEZRAFETAEBRTE
(RPBf3E26) - -
ETRHBRAT
T CFEERE 141
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, deposits, bank balances and cash, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade and other payables and financial liabilities at FVTPL.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments included
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk
() Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
bank balances, which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. USD are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

6.

£RITHE(E)
tREREEEERBE
AEENTESMIABES SR EMAEK
HOE - T RITEBRES - RATEE
ABHRMEREE - B S REMAENKEAN
REATFEFABANERAE  ZZ4®
TAMHEMEBAMETRE - BRZ4m
TEABMERAETERR(SERK R
MERR)  CERBRRABELAR - &0
MREZERARNBEERNTY - EREE
B R EESERR - RS R T
EE N

™5k

() EEEE
RARIETHBARAINERITREL -
SAEEHEBGIINERR - ETTUEE
BRI EB AN EREETE -

RBEEH - UINEFHENAEEE

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as BEEMNREDEBEWDT :
follows:
Assets
&E
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
T FHIT
usb E7T 61 70

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging of significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity Analysis

The Group currently is mainly exposed to the effects of
fluctuation in USD as above. Management of the Group
considers the currency risk of the Group is insignificant for the
years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, hence no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances (see note 23) carried at
prevailing market rates. The Group also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate financial assets at
FVTPL (see note 22). The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other
necessary action when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances is minimal due to short-term
maturities, hence, no sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge all obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade and other
receivables and bank balance and cash. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL on an collectively basis
by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss
experience, as well as the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

6.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other non-trade related receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime
rather than 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the
reporting date with the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

internal credit rating;
external credit rating;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the operating result
of the borrower;

significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments
of the borrower; and

significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the operating
results of the borrower.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

6.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its operation
management committee to develop and maintain the Group's credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is supplied by independent
rating agencies where available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group's own trading records to rate its major
customers and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

Category
28

Description

b

£RITHE(E)
tREREEEEREE (E)

FERE (%)

A B m G E B R
RBEERREERE  AEEDLTHREK
LEEZB RN ELEFAEEEERRT
A DIRIREE R e 12 E E R Bk O
T0 58 - EEFRER BB P REELR
WA RS MEBLZESAERENNE
AT REEREZBREFEREMARAR
FBERRAEENEERFHETR
BEPREMEBEBALTHR - AEERRE
ERERXSHFHIOARMAREEFE
W ERRXSHNEESBELIENRS
HFF e

AEB BN EERBRFFERBIEUATE
Al

Basis for recognising ECL

BRANFEFENESE

Performing

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has

12-month ECL

not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to as

Stage 1)
B4
AEEMEN BEERE(FBE 1 ER)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant

TRVEEREQRR KB Nia EREE SRR &

2B AEHEEEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired

increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are

not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)
Al &R
BRE (FEFE 2 ER)

Default

TRVEEREERR B 16 R EAIRIE AL &B(E

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the

2HEHEERE — BEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit impaired

estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred

(refer to as Stage 3)

EREMHREHEHYEELTRAIRERERR

2HEMEERE —FERE

EXENSREENEREERE(EFIER)

Write-off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

BEURRAGHEABABRENT BRI
WERIER) 7 EWSE

s

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe

- A AEE

Amount is written-off

FRIA R 55
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group's financial
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by

6. SRITH(E)
tREREEEEREE (E)

FERE (%)

A& EE iz B (B)
TRALAEEEHEENEEERARIR
FEERRFAE D AEEHBRNSIAEER

credit risk rating grades: @
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—fF
Internal Gross Net Gross Net
credit 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
Notes rating lifetime ECL amount allowance amount amount  allowance amount
A 128528
iz FEEFR BAHEESS REAE BERE EEFE KELE BEREE FE¥E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TiEx TiEx FHET TAT THET
Trade receivables 20 (Note) Lifetime ECL 19,069 (383) 18,686 5,493 - 5,493
B 5 ElRE (Pit5E) (simplified
approach)
2HEREEEE
(%)
Loan receivables 20 Performing  12-month ECL 379 (95) 284 1,883 - 1,883
B LR B4 1218 A8
=EBR
Other receivables 20 Performing  12-month ECL 2,702 (404) 2,298 1,883 - 1,883
E b e B4 1218 A8 E
FEEEE
Other receivable 20 Doubitful Lifetime ECL — not 314 (314) - 309 (309) -
Ho At e WK TR A& credit impaired
SHEREEEE
—EEERE
(1,196) (309)
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 Mk : B SEWFIEMES @ AEEERAE BN B K

Financial Instruments to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on these items by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors,
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future
economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is
presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix. Note
20 includes further details on the loss allowance for these assets respectively.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL as
disclosed in note 22 best represent their respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over any of
these balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 56% (2021: 27%) and
99% (2021: 82%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group's largest external customer and the top five largest external
customers respectively as at 31 March 2022.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flow. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting
period.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. LEITHE(E)
Financial risk management objectives and policies cREREEBZERBER (&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FBESER (&)

At 31 March 2022
R-ZB--%=HA=1+-H

More than More than Total
Within one 1 year but 2 years but contractual
year or less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2years 5 years cash flows amount
—FRg BE-F BAME  AHREE
REX BYRME BIREFE RERELE REE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TER FER TR TR TR
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMENZIE 53,503 - - 53,503 53,503
Lease liabilities HERE 1,387 80 - 1,467 1,435

At 31 March 2021
RZB-—F=A=+—H

More than More than Total
Within one 1 year but 2 years but contractual
year or less than less than undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
—FRK BB BERE  ANRER
REX (ERNTES BIREE ReRBEH REE
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TET TET T TERT TET
Trade and other payables B 5 LA ENTIE 34,349 - - 34349 34,349
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,709 410 - 2,119 2,063
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value measurement objective and policies

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period,
grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree
to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s
accounting policy.

6. $HRITH(E)
AFEFEEERBEK
TRIEHHRSREBRBATESENS
BIENIT - L REAEEG e KRER
ATEABEREREASE—E-BAFE
B -

At 31 March 2022
R=-ZB-=—F=A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—E £=E E=E #mEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET

Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABEN
SREE
— Wealth management products — IBEIE - 22,894 - 22,894
At 31 March 2021
RZZEZ—F=H=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E F_E F=IE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FAET
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABEN
cREE
— Wealth management products — IBBAZE & - 28,623 - 28,623

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in the
current and prior years.

REMMBEFE - AFEBR BT EE
B o

BFEHEERAT
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement objective and policies
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instruments on a recurring basis are
set out below:

Fair value as at 31 March

R=ZA=+-HHNAYE

6. SRITH(E)
AFEFEEEREE(E)

FEBRBEEHEEZAVEANENSH
EERERMBENQTE
BREBLEHEEAELSMITANDFER
PR RS ERIT R A BB T -

Relationship of
key inputs and
significant
Fair value Valuation technique Significant unobservable
2022 2021 hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs  inputs to fair value
BREUABBEATE
HERER EATABE HEATTRE
et T AVEER BREABE BABE BABENBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRATESARRNEREE
— Wealth management products 22,894 28623 Level2 Quoted rate of retun by -~ N/A N/A
issuing bank
—BYER £ BORTNEBERE TEA TER
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
BRATESARRNERAR
— Financial liabilities arising - - Level3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate of The higher the discount
in relation to the provision model based on 2021 was 2.53% rate, the lower the
of the Profit Guarantee discount rate and value (note )
future cash flow
—HRERNREELNERERE FZE ERBERERKR —F--fF HREES -
ReRENHETRE  BHERL {EEMIE ()
MERH
Note: GER
[0 If the discount rate to the valuation model were 10 basis point higher/lower 0] A ERRNAOBIRE EF TR 10EES - AT

while all the other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee
would decrease/increase by nil (2021: nil).
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A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. £RITE (&)
Fair value measurement objective and policies AFEFEEERBER (E)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial AEERBEEHEERAFETENER
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis EERSBHEBNATE(E)
(Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial BRI RBEEN CEMHEESR
liabilities arising in relation to the provision of the Profit Guarantee BEF=EBAVEFENHE:

on recurring basis:

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
At 31 March R=A=+—H - -
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RNAFEERAE  HREAMKSHRETIEA
current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost using the FRER| SR AR AT B RS AT G
effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial RS sk N E AN S| - S HEEmERE AT
statements approximate their fair values due to their immediate or B o
short-term maturities.
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of RNAFEERE NEAWKRETEAE
the other non-current financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost BRI SRR B AR AN A BE Y B 2E A BN A R
using the effective interest rate method in the consolidated financial BENEMEERE N FERE -

statements approximate their fair values.

BFEHEERAT
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents revenue arising from system development

7.

service, consultancy service, maintenance and other services and
sales of hardware products. An analysis of the Group's revenue for
the year is as follows:

WK o EHER
WantE R B ZMAEIRT - FARIRY - #&
Ko LA AR B $H S5 B 1R 7 dm O Wi ek © NSRBI
FRWEERDITIT :

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&T FHIT
Revenue from contracts with customers BREAMEWEEINE 155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANH KRBT &R
Disaggregated by major products REZEMSF
—  Services —  RB
System development . R 15,118 19,068
Consultancy o 2,676 1,815
Maintenance and others . HE R H A = 298
—  Sales of hardware —  HEEMH 15,006 20,061
32,800 41,242

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group's revenue from
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15:

TXHIAEEBRE BN ERELRF 15
SREBERREEF A KRR DI -

Sales of
Services hardware Total
PR 7% SHEEH MEt
For the year ended BE-ZE-_—F HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
31 March 2022 ZA=t—HLEFE FTHET THET TER
Timing of revenue recognition HE R UL S B
At a pointin time RE g - 15,006 15,006
Over time B8 B ] 17,794 - 17,794
17,794 15,006 32,800
Sales of
Services hardware Total
R 75 HERR M st
For the year ended HE-_Z——% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2021 ZA=T—HLEE TET THET TET
Timing of revenue recognition TR U 28 HY B
At a point in time RE—BE2 - 20,061 20,061
Over time e B ] 21,181 - 21,181
21,181 20,061 41,242
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A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEkSHER (&)
(Continued)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining PTHMERTENBEEINRZER
performance obligations
As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of transaction price R-E-_—F=ZA=+—8 pEEHEFE
allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or 17 (SHEDHRET) BHEENR S ERR
partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$146,000 (2021: 28 A #49146,0007 7T ( ZF Z —4F 1 9428,000
HK$9,428,000). The amount represents revenue expected to be BIL) c B EIETBHN KRR B SRR
recognised in the future from software development contracts. The BHERNINE - AREE R TEX ARG (FE
Group will recognise this revenue as the service is completed, which AR — 2 AFEREE) MRZIEIKRES -
is expected to occur within one to five years.
Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the HERDE M EOERIRMAANARESE
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purpose of (BN BREAREKE) SHOER - ER AT
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses REREOER c REBAREENR]E2FHD
on types of services provided. No operating segments identified by M ESETFBRERFEZEIINEESH
the CODM has been aggregated in arriving at the reportable BB o
segments of the Group.
Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows: LHZ  AEENF 2RO HWT :
—  System development, consultancy, maintenance and other — R - #E - gEREMRE (R
services (“Services'); and ¥R
—  Sales of hardware products. — HEWHES-
Segment revenues and results DEBU R R LA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT BIRA] 2| B ML D IE| D AR E
reportable and operating segment. B REEDNT -
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_Z_—_=A=1+—HLEE
Sales of
Services hardware Total
R 7% SHEBH st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET F#ExT FET
Segment revenue 7 Ep UL A 17,794 15,006 32,800
Segment loss S EBETHE (5,967) (2,156) (8,123)
Unallocated income KBl A 1,447
Unallocated corporate expenses RO (13,701)
Unallocated finance costs ROBE T E R (1,047)
Impairment loss on other receivables £ {ib & Yg X B R E €548 (496)
Loss before taxation MR BT ES 1B (21,920)
ETRHBRAT
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A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEkSHER (&)
(Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) o EP U R AR ()
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-ZE-_—-F=A=1+—HLEE
Sales of
Services hardware Total
A7 SHERE M wBEr

HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHT FH&T
Segment revenue 7 EW = 21,181 20,061 41,242
Segment profit/(loss) DEbE A (EE) 2,985 (2,382) 603
Unallocated income FOEUWA 3,352
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNE R~ a WS 20,124
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBERS (16,829)
Unallocated finance costs ROBLI B E R (596)
Impairment loss on other receivables E 4t f& U 7018 19 Rl (B 5 18 (309)
Profit before taxation B 758 A1 g ) 6,345
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as L& ERATER A M S 5T BUR 2R 52 3 it AR
the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment profit/ EENETREMARE - HIEF,(BE) 5
(loss) represents the profit/(loss) of each segment without allocation FEWESBARRITHAA - EEHM - Ha
of central administration costs, directors’ emoluments, other income WA R EBMER T & DS TE /G
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the directors of A(EE) o kAR RTEE2MIET
the Company with respect to the resource allocation and BRAEERBTENAEFE -

performance assessment.
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e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. RERDEER (F)
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by AT AIRA] 23D I N& & D32 H A E
reportable and operating segment: BEEENRBENDNT
Segment assets THEE
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHEIT
Services AR 7 13,562 5,883
Sales of hardware HEE 10,138 6,441
Total segment assets DEPEEBEE 23,700 12,324
Corporate and other assets EREMEE 34,507 49,693
Total assets WEE 58,207 62,017
Segment liabilities EHEE
2022 2021
—E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FAT
Services AR 7% 11,621 4,023
Sales of hardware SHEREM 8,468 4,240
Total segment liabilities DEERERE 20,089 8,263
Corporate and other liabilities rEREMEE 34,867 28,862
Total liabilities HEE 54,956 37,125
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating MERSHRB LA ERMS

resources between segments:

— All assets are allocated to operating segment, other than — RBEREE FAPER4S - BNZE
intangible assets, unallocated deposits, prepayments and R E M pEWZIE IR AFESFAES
other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, bank balances and HEREE FITEHRBEAURE
cash and other corporate assets. Assets used jointly by MOEEEN FIEEEHDRER
reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the Moo A S|ATLEFEENEE
revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and LAE R a] 23R SRFTBEE N WS 1E A

DECHERE &

— Al liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other than — BEoILREMEMAZUBRESER -
unallocated other payables and accruals, income tax payable ENFEREEMCEaEIN  TE
and other corporate liabilities. Liabilities for which reportable BEHDEDLEL DI ] LR 6
segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to HERENABIREISE FHHE
segment liabilities. & o
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A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2022

7. WmkoSER (FE)

Hihp HER
BE-_ZT-__f=H=+—HLEE
Sales of
Services hardware Unallocated Total
PR 7% SHEE M bl st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
FTERT FTERT FTERT TERT

Amounts include in the measure 5t E 5 ZBEE
of segment loss KN EEERTA
or segment assets: HIFIR -

Addition to non-current assets NEIERBEE (MI5E)

(Note)

Depreciation and amortisation PTE R

Impairment loss on B Z W IERRIE
trade receivables &8

Impairment loss on H it f IR HRE
other receivables E1E

Impairment loss on contract assets & #)& & AR EE 18

Amounts regularly provided to the FHi[A = BB REE

CODM but not included in REEFTEN B
the measure of D EERITE
segment profit or loss FTARIFRIE

or segment assets:

Interest income B WA
Finance costs B &
Income tax credit FriSfiE e
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4= A

Are M HmR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #HEZ=ZZ——

F=A=+—ALFE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WERDEHER (E)
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) HibpIHER (E)
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE-ZE-_—-F=A=1+—HLEE
Sales of
Services hardware  Unallocated Total
AR 7% SHEMEM KA 4t
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET FET FETT
Amounts include in the measure 5+ & 5 28% ¥,/ (E18)
of segment profit/(loss) sk D EPEERETA
or segment assets: HIFIR -
Addition to non-current assets NEIERBEE (MI5E)

(Note) 58 102 10 170
Depreciation and amortisation WTE R 2,232 1,386 1,867 5,485
Impairment loss on H A R IB R R EE 1B

other receivables - - 309 309
Amounts regularly provided to the T Hi[A] = B & RFEE

CODM but not included in REEFED IR

the measure of SO EERTE

segment profit or loss FFABIFIA

or segment assets:

Interest income F B A - - (200) (200)
Finance costs 8758 A 44 78 596 718
Income tax credit Fris iz - - (15) (15)

Note:  Non-current assets excluded goodwill for the years ended 31 March 2022 and

2021.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group's
operations are mainly located in the PRC.

Substantially all of the Group’s operation are in the PRC, no
geographical information is presented.

Wi HE T - —FR-_F-_—F=A=+—HIHF
B EETRERE -

ih & &

HE-_Z-_—FK —*F=ZA=+—H

IEFE  AEBHNEEEEMNFE -

— = —

—=

REBRBAMLDY LEMNTE - WA EZT
wEEFR -

BFEHEERAT
TR FERE
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

A

il

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.
(Continued)

Information about major customers

WK 2 EHER ()

FREIEEFNER
o £ PR B 4F B 3 7 S B 40 M R 109% 1A

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing

over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: FRRPWZENT
2022 2021
—=E-= T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Company A NGV 11,286 16,487
Company B? NSRS 8,599 10,165
Company C NAEIC 6,227 8,012
! Revenue from services segment. a2k B AR # 9 &D
2 Revenue from sales of hardware segment. Wz R B SHE R D EB o
8. OTHERINCOME Hitglg A
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHEIT
Interest income from bank deposits RITHF A A BHA 10 200
Investment income from financial assets RN EGTAEBRN
designated as at FVTPL TREAENRERA 701 820
Income from waived of lease repayment BeHEERHEA 140 128
Government grants (note) R 7 Bh (B 3E) 969 7,083
Gain on lease modification HEEMMRIkE - 631
Others Hib 596 746
2,416 9,608
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, included in the government grants are Mz BE-ZT-_—F=A=+—HULFE FABF

158

recognised government grant of approximately HK$969,000 (2021:
HK$6,724,000) related to the government grants from the PRC local government
authorities in respect of subsidising the Group's scientific and technological and
operating activities, which were immediately recognised as other income for the
year as the Group fulfilled all the relevant granting criteria.

The remaining government grants for the year ended 31 March 2021 of
approximately HK$359,000 (2022: nil) in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies
which related to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Government of
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under the Anti-Epidemic Fund.
Government grants has been recognised as other income on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group recognises the staff costs for which the
government grants are intended to compensate. The Group recognised as other
income for the year as the Group recognised all the relevant granting criteria.
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. HIHKER
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FH&xT FHT
Interest on late settlement of litigation claims IR 45 E FFAE A B 976 566
Interests on lease liabilities HEaBNFE 126 152
1,102 718
PA
10. INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FiISHER
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&x FHIT
Over provision in prior years: BEFE B
PRC Enterprises Income Tax ("EIT”) PRI TS
([EEmEH]) 5 15
Notes: BiaE -
(i) No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the years ended 31 March 2022 0] HE_Z-_ R -_T-_—F=ZF=+—HILF

and 2021 as the Company did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong

Kong Profits Tax.

(i) Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is

25% for both years.

. T YT L "ot

R EHRFBMNEHESG  RERARFLE
EREGREENEHHERTET -

(i) RIEPELCEMSHE(TRERERE]) ROE
IR BOREIEMD]  RZMEFE - dEMEA

A K R 25% o
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A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

The income tax expenses can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FiEHiE % (&)

PR iR A Bat MM 2 m RS R AT
AR AT (B1R), SR MERRAT -

2022 2021
—ZE_— B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrEiAT (&1R), @ T (21,920) 6,345
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5%  IEZNH Fr{S R 5 & 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) T 1 165%)
BT (3,617) 1,047
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR A T SR 2
tax purposes 34 1,036
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAFRRUA NS E
tax purposes (457) (3/405)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRIBEENT B E 5,449 3,805
Utilisation of tax losses previously ERBTREROTIAEE
not recognised = 3)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R EA FDEE R L E R B A A
operating in other jurisdictions TRBENTE (1,409) (2,480)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEHREAERE (5) (15)
Income tax credit for the year FAMEHRER (5) (15)

Details of the deferred taxation are set out in note 29.

BRERTEH RN F BHNIRE29 -
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e MR

/N

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & ZE

11. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—=— —

=

F=A=+—ALFE

1. FR(BER) EF

2022 2021
—=—= —E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
(Loss)/profit for the year has been arrived at FREER),SEM T EME T7

after charging: BIRRES
Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments &= N T BT A BHEH (FizE12)

(note 12) 3,212 1,837
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits ~ ¥i& ~ T& - 285 R E M 1EF] 5,529 7,986
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  RIKBFIFTEMERCIBIEESE -

(excluding directors’, chief executive’s and FETHABRESHI)

supervisors’ emoluments) 717 297
Total staff costs BT ALBER 9,458 10,120
Auditor's remuneration ZE AN B & 550 450
Depreciation of plant and equipment MR MR ETE 2,151 3,395
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 2,436 2,077
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 14 13
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 S EWFHIERREERE 376 -
Impairment loss on other receivables E e IR R R E SR 496 309
Impairment loss on contract assets BHEERRERE 6 -
Amount of inventories recognised as BRERINFESR

an expense 14,210 18,639
Lease rentals for office premises (note i) MAEYEMRERS () 22 5
Net exchange loss & EEFRE 7 1

Note:

(i) The amounts represent lease rentals relating to short-term leases under HKFRS (i)

16.

Wi

HEMHEEES -

FZEMERBYBRELRE 6 RATHREY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EERFTETHASHMH

EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ and chief executive's emoluments are as follows: BEERTBITHRABHFIOFBOT :
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a persons services in MZATERERARN TS ENBATRE
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or BEBENEL T RENRE M MZ AT
its subsidiary undertaking: B % BN 2k 5% A = ] BE Rz 5 AR 7% T U ER AY

i -
Employer’s

Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement

and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
e 2RR EERENKER
ik Hiti @A HE (3 @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TET
Forthe yearended 31 March2022 HE-ZE=-—&
ZA=t-RLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr.Ho Yeung (note i) ] s A (BIsET) - 650 - 650
Mr. Wang Xiaoqj (note i) FrEm A (M EED - 690 46 736
Mr. Cai Dan (notes i and ii SRR A (L Rii) - 1,005 - 1,005
Ms. Ho Ching (notes i and i) A2+ (B i Riii) - 401 - 401
Independent non-executive directors B IEEHITEE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki st 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony WFEELE 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee mERLL 120 - - 120
Total st 420 2,746 46 3,212
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A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EERFTETHAETM (E)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a persons services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking:

RRZALTHEEERARRREMBLAANE
BABENER T REOREM I NZAL
B 7 B Bk % A 1 AJ B AR S AR A 1 W ER Y
N -

Employer’s
Salaries, contributions
allowances to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits scheme Total
e 2R EEXMRAET
e Hofth 7 7 STEIE @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
THEL THET TAT FAET
Fortheyear ended 31 March 2021 HE—-B=-—f
ZA=t-HLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Yeung (note ) e (B3 - 650 4 654
Mr. Wang Xiaoqj (note i) FEREE (M) - 620 20 640
Mr. Cai Dan (notes i and ii) R4 (MR i) - 123 - 123
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITEE
Mr. Lau Chor Ki WeHEE 180 - - 180
Mr. Tse Yee Hin Tony HFEF L E 120 - - 120
Mr. Wong Kin Kee ERELE 120 - - 120
Total st 420 1393 24 1837
Notes: BIRE -
(i) The remuneration includes remuneration paid to them in their capacity as an (i) BT EZEZEEZUARTNMBATES

employees of the subsidiaries of the Company.
(i) Appointed on 1 March 2021.
(iii) Appointed on 18 June 2021.

No chief executive was appointed during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

No directors and chief executive of the Company waived or agreed
to waive the emolument paid by the Group during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement for joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

. T YT L "ot

B 517 W ER B 37 BN
(ii) RZE=Z—F=F—HEZF-
(ii) RZZEZ—FXAT+N\BEZF-

BE-_ - -_F-—F=A=+—H
IHFE ARABEZEEBEITHAE -

ARAREERETETHAEBMEREXRE
BEAEEEE_T_—_FR-_FT=-_—F=
AB=+—HI-FER TR -
HE-Z-_—_FR-_FT-—F=HA=+—H
IEFE - AEEBERESNEHIESM
AREEw ER) B E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. (B E %M
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2021: REESFALTH  ZR(ZE-—F: W
two) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are set out B)BARARESE  BEMNFINES KT
in note 12. The emoluments of the remaining two (2021: three) N -BTIME(ZEZ—F: ZR2)EaHA
highest paid individuals were as follows: THEFBNT
2022 2021
-2 —E-—F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#&T FAET
Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits ~ ¥7 & ~ T& - 285 K & F| 1,152 2,514
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme  iRAREFEH &I X 51 51
1,203 2,565
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BENMS N TATEE -

Number of individuals

A
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 21,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7 7T Z 1,500,000 7 7T = 1
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid BE_ZE-_—_FR-_E-_—F=A=+—H
individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or as IEFE AEEYERTESESHA LN
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31 March RN 15 & DA R B A 12 E) o VB ARk
2022 and 2021. fHIE o
14. DIVIDENDS 14. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 March BE_ZE-_—_FKr-_FE-_—F=F=+—H
2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end EFEREBERNSEZRNRE - BE®RE
of the reporting period. HARESL RIS RS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

15. Bk (B1R) BF
DA A A S R A 5 (S
18),/ BRI ERA TR -

following:
2022 2021
—E_—F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
(Loss)/earnings (BR), &R
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of basic and BrtEEREAREE
diluted (loss)/earnings per share, representing  ([E548),/ 2 £ A Y
(loss)/profit for the year attributable to (E518),/&BA| - BNARAT]
owners of the Company e AELFEAN(EE), &5 (18,189) 16,703
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
Number of shares BEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares A&+ 8 G R A K #5E
for the purpose of basic and diluted (loss)/ (B18),/ BRFANEER
earnings per share (‘000 shares) o9 e (FR%) 1,356,250 1,356,250

The dilutive earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per
share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding
during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

BE—_ - -_F-—F=A=+—H
IFFE - AR EEITEINNEEEE LR
i - MRS ERFEEREGIRERBF -

BFEHEERAT
TR FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. MEKRZE
Leasehold Plantand Furniture Motor Office
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicle equipment Total
HEMRER BERKE GRRETEEE AE BARE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TER TR THERT TR
CosT A
At 1 April 2020 R-ZZ-_ZENA-A 8,045 1969 935 722 255 11,926
Additions AE 160 10 - - 170
Exchange alignment (& 5 % 683 82 73 61 899
At 31 March 2021 and R-E--&
1 April 2021 =A=t+-Ak
—E--FNA-A 8,888 2,061 1,008 783 255 12,995
Additions B 17 - - - 3 20
Acquisition of a subsidiary W —FEHTB AR
(note 27) (Fit5t27) - 8 - - - 8
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEHB AR
(note 28) (FizE28) - (8) - - - 8)
Exchange alignment (& 5 = 368 44 38 32 - 482
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-=F
=ZA=+-H 9,273 2,105 1,046 815 258 13,497
DEPRECIATION AND TERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-ZEENA-H 3,225 1361 689 94 220 5589
Charge for the year FAZH 2817 331 90 147 10 3,395
Exchange alignment (& 5 = 371 47 56 13 487
At 31 March 2021 and R-E--&
1 April 2021 =A=t+-Ak
—E--FNA-A 6,413 1,739 835 254 230 9,471
Charge for the year ERTH 1,690 204 91 156 10 2,151
Acquisition of a subsidiary W —FEHIB AR
(note 27) (Fit5t27) - 5 - - - 5
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHBAF
(note 28) (FizE28) - (8) - - - 8)
Exchange alignment (& 5 = 295 35 32 13 - 375
At 31 March 2022 R-ZB-—F
=A=+-H 8,398 1,975 958 423 240 11,994
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2022 R-BE-Z&
=A=+-H 875 130 88 392 18 1,503
At 31 March 2021 R-B=-%
=A=1+-H 2475 3 173 529 25 3,524
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

16. = K==t (&)

BB TR B A 5T P R 1T 47
£ EmT :

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEMEERE HHEEH
Plant and machinery 20% to 50% R M e 20% % 50%
Furniture and fixtures 20% to 25% BRREFEEE 20% 2 25%
Motor vehicle 20% JAE 20%
Office equipment 20% NS 20%
17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASELIABILITIES 17. AR EERBEEE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FHEEE
2022 2021
-2 —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Buildings BF 1,374 1,940

The Group has lease arrangements for office buildings and
premises with the lease terms of generally ranged from 2 to 3
years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
March 2022 amounted to approximately HK$1,819,000 due to
new leases of renting property.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no right-of-use assets
was derecognised due to the adjustment upon lease
modification (2021: HK$2,745,000).

AEERR BT RDETFHER
o MEH RN F2E3F -

HE_T--_F=A=+—HIFE
HRAHMEEREME  WAEFAE
B E#1,819,00078 7T °

HEe_Z-_—_F#=-A=+—HItFE -
14 FME B AR RO B SRR T AR UE
BREAEEE(ZZ = —F:
2,745000787T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 17. S ERHEERE (E)

(Continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
2022 2021
—E-= —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Non-current JERB 80 409
Current mE 1,355 1,654
1,435 2,063
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HEBEIETHENKIE 2022 2021
—E_C —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —ER 1,355 1,654
After one year but within two years —FIREMFA 80 409
1,435 2,063
Less: Amount due for settlement within o R 128 B R EIER
12 months (shown under ERTHFRIE
current liabilities) BN rRBBEET) (1,355) (1,654)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 712 {l A 18 2| B4 (< e B 80 409
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into (E_T - F=A=+—HIFE
a lease agreement in respect of renting property and REBGHEEYET L —HHEERH
recognised lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,819,000. R E B B4 1,819,000 7T °
During the year ended 31 March 2022, no lease liabilities was BE_Z__F=-"A=+—HILFE -
derecognised due to the adjustment upon lease modification BEANHEERRELFREMK L
(2021: HK$3,376,000). REEAEB(ZF = —4% : 3376000

ABIT) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 17. S ERHEERE (E)

(Continued)
(iii) Amount recognised in profit or loss

(iii) REFFHEINEHE

2022 2021

—E-—fF —T-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FAET

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEEITE 2,436 2,077
Interests on lease liabilities HEBENFE 126 152
Income from waived of lease repayment  EAREE B HUA (140) (128)
Gain on lease modification HE B - (631)
Expense relating to short-term leases BERHAENHAY 22 5

(iv) Others

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total cash outflow
for lease amount to HK$2,509,000 (2021: HK$2,284,000).

As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, no lease agreement
not yet commenced is committed by the Group.

. T YT L "ot

(iv) Hfb
BE-Z-_—_F=A=t1t—HItFE "
HEMIR &R 8% 525090008 7T

—EFE - —4F 2284000/ 7T) °

RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—BR=Z%
T—F=ZA=+—H  AEBEIWLEX
i ARFBMAERE -

I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Development Trademark
costs costs Total
B RS [GE:32%N st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET T
COST 5%
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, MN-ZE-_TEMA—H -
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —E-—F=ZA=+—8 "
—To-FEA-BAR
—E-_F=HA=+—H 61 10 71
AMORTISATION EC
At 1 April 2020 MR- E-EFEMA—H 24 6 30
Charge for the year FARZH 12 1 13
At31March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-ZT-—F=A=+—H
kZTEZ—FWmA—AH 36 7 43
Charge for the year FARZH 13 1 14
At31 March 2022 RIZEZZF=H=+—H 49 8 57
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At31 March 2022 RZZEZZF=F=+—H 12 2 14
At31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—H 25 3 28
The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible Lt EEEEARFREE EHER
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated BERBHEGEFNEGEHEREEREL - 5
useful lives as follows: ER
Development costs 5 years LI #N 54
Trademark costs 10 years FEEEIDWiN 104E
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“re TSR M

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

AY

il

19. GOODWILL 19. B8
2022 2021
—E—— —E——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

cosT A

At 1 April REA—H 4,139 4139

Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (note i) UK E — RIS E A 7] E £ (M) 449 -

Disposal of a subsidiary (note i) HE— R E AR (MisE) (449) -

4,139 4,139

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES REtRESE

At 1 April and 31 March REUA—BER=A=+—H 4,139 4,139

CARRYING VALUES BREE

At 31 March W=A=+—H - -

Notes: Bt &E -

[0 The goodwill in respect of the Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development Co.,, 0] BT 27 BT - AP R RABRERERD
Ltd (“Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development’) is acquired through AI(THREEABERE ) OEEERELEH
business combination as shown in note 27. G ©
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the goodwill in related to the HE_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—HILFE  BHhER
Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development has been derecognised through AR RAMM N ED BB s BN L E
disposal transaction as disclosed in note 28. RHEIEMER ©

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group assessed the recoverable (ii) HE-_T-NWF=A=+—HBLFE FEEEZ
amount of goodwill on value-in-use basis and determined that the carrying FREBEEETHEENAKESE  WETEK
amount of HK$4,139,000 was fully impaired arisen from the acquisition of BRI E TR EFTESRMA[E41390007%8 T A%
Shenzhen Quantum Group due to worsening of business. BEEMDBERE -

BFEHEERAT
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BB HmRMN T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #HE-—T-_—F=A=+—HIFE

I“/

20.

112

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. €5 RHEMEBWRIE

2022 2021
—=E=-— —E - —F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F&T FET

Receivables at amortised cost comprise: RS AN ET B B R GRIA BT
Trade receivables B Z W EIR 19,069 5493
Less: loss allowance for trade receivables B B S ERGIAE B H (383) -
18,686 5,493
Deposits %4 1,063 1,056
Prepayments i‘Eﬁ%ﬂilﬁ 2,602 1,454
Loan receivables (note i) B A (M) 379 -
Other receivables (note i) 3 \m%ﬂﬁlmlﬁ CGED) 1,953 1,136
24,683 9,139

Less: loss allowance for loan and other B B R H Al FEGRIE &Y

receivables (note i and i) B (e i) (813) (309)
23,870 8,830

As at 31 March 2022, the gross amount of trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$19,069,000 (2021: HK$5,493,000).

There was approximately HK$376,000 (2021: nil) impairment loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 120 days
to its customers, although an extension of the credit period is not
uncommon for customers who have a long term relationship with
the Group. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of this and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk.
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RZEBE-_—F=ZA=+—H BPAHNFME
) E S FE R GRIE B4 519,069,000 7% 7T
(ZZ——4% 1 5493,000/87T) °

HE-_T-—HF=-A=+—HIFE  BE
BB 43760008 T (Z T = —F : T) R4
EEEMEMEARERTPRER(ZE=—
F )

REE—RiETEFTHEBI20RNEED

BESREAEEFRABERNERPMELER
EEITTER o REE S SKEAEE SRR
(O] R IR - T = AR B EE fE B E B AR T 8 P
e BRI I EAREEE 5 RKGKIR
HAESMEFLHENE  HIUESAEERR
SHMIBER
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of loss
allowance for trade receivables, presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates revenue recognition date at the end of
each reporting period.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

20. €5 RHEMBYWRIER)

AT BREREHRRIERO W SR BB
MEZERAHEINNE SRR (KR E
SIEYGRIARIRREE) FARER AT -

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within 90 days 0HA 1,972 3,674
91 to 180 days 9O1HZ=180H 4,451 1,819
181 to 365 days 181 HZE365H 12,257 -
Over 365 days B8 365 H 6 -
18,686 5,493

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an NEERBEER 2 HEHEEREN ST

amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.

25 SRR IR - 85 EUHR
A B IRE B R RAEEL B E A
MBS REEA N BRI BIRS
IR T - RESARSTEE - 8
T MR AT R E RIS AR RN
& AR E AR RN B AT
B

AR AKEAET EEERERY KA IRAE
Fo#2RBE TRANERRN - Eit AR5t
AEBETRAEPE— TR RBEBEBMN
A R B

BFEHEERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. S5 R E#fEUR=h1E (48)

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based on AEERBEIFERERNT S ERARAETER
the aging of customers collectively that are not individually o RIWGBENEHEREESENT :

significant as follows:

At 31 March 2022 R-EBE-_—_F=A=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
InFEF
FEHEE=E IREAE EBEEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THT
Not yet due A R B HA 1.1% 2,021 22
Past due 1-60 days #HI1-60 H 1.2% 4,531 53
Past due over 60 days # EAfE R 60 B 2.5% 12,517 308
19,069 383
At 31 March 2021 R-_E-——F=ZA=+—H
Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
ke
TEHEAE R X BRE4E E B
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Not yet due i) A 21 HA 0% 5447 -
Past due 1-60 days #H7 1-60 B 0% 46 -
5493 -
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e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #HEZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

20. ES R HMEWE

RIR (%)

The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables is set out E RN RIENEEBEEESHNT
below:
2022 2021
—=E—= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
1 April REA—H =
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss FRNEREZNEERE
during the year 376 -

Exchange alignment M 7 -

At 31 March R=A=+—AH 383 -

Notes: BT

[0 As at 31 March 2022, the amount represents loans with the principal amount of 0] E’q‘f T —FZA=1+—H  ZXEAERANE
approximately RMB308,000 (equivalent to HK$379,000) (2021: nil) made to a AR D HAREE 308,000 7T (A E 72 379,000 7T)
former subsidiary. The loans are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 9 (ZZEZ—F: BINER - ZFERREER -
January 2023 and 21 February 2023 respectively. RERAINRZZ_=F—ANBR=ZZT==F

“RA-+—HEEZ-
As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of loan receivables is approximately RZZEZZF=A=+—H BEREXREEEL
HK$284,000 (2021: nil), with accumulated loss allowance of approximately B2840008TL (ZE=—F : T) - RAFHEIBEE
HK$95,000 (2021: nil). HIBI5000BTL(ZF=—F : &) -

(i) Included in the amount of other receivables as at 31 March 2022, approximately (i) RZTEZZF=A=+— E AT AE fh fE U B IE
HK$25,000 (2021: HK24,000) and HK$ 1,533,000 (2021: HK$875,000) represented #9 % 42500078 70 (=B = —4F 1 2400075 7T)
the amount due from Mr. Wang Xiaoqj, the executive director of the Company 121,533,000 fﬁﬁ(igi—i : 87500078 7T) HE &
and amounts due from former subsidiaries. The amounts are unsecured, WA X BT B T R B 4 AE A 3R T 8 W Al B
interest-free and repayment on demand. BRBINIE - BERELAEER 2O RARE

SRAEE -

(i) The Group measures the loss allowance for loan and other receivables at an (iif) AEBRBSENR REABHEESBENSHTE
amount equal to 12-month ECL. The Group recognised 12-month ECL for loan ,\TA&ﬁﬁﬁJEW RIER EE S - NEEIZENK
and other receivables based on the internal credit rating of receivables as ARIEH) N 215 B AT RSB R R H b FEGR IR TR
follows: 121IETEEWAEEETEZZDT

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
EHEEER FREAE ERRE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

At 31 March 2022 R_T__F=A=+—H

Performing B4 25% 2,018 499
Doubtful A& 100% 314 314
2,332 813

Expected Gross carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
TEEE AR IREAE EiEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FT FT

At 31 March 2021 RZZZ—F=R=+—H
Performing B4 0% 827 -
Doubtful Q=4 100% 309 309
1,136 309
BHBRLT 175
:f::ifﬁi
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e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. S5 R E#fEUR=h1E (48)

Notes: (Continued) Bt : (88)
(i) (Continued) @iy (&)
The movement in the loss allowance for loan and other receivables is set out ERkEMERZENBEBENESNT
below:
2022 2021
—EBC-—fF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
At 1 April HIEA—H 309 -
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the year 4 X148 %5 2 FESR 1) B5 18 B4 496 309
Exchange alignment Rk 8 -
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 813 309
There was approximately HK$496,000 (2021: HK$309,000) impairment loss BHE-_Z-—_F=A=+—HLFE ' EROR
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other B E51849496,00078 7 (—ZF = —4F : 309,000/ 7T)
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022. BEtAGE R KA EKGERA
ALl
21. CONTRACT ASSETS 21. SHNEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Unbilled revenue of system development REREEHNRFRRE
contract 574 225
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to receive BHNEETRRAKEHO TRERARN
consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the HEEMAEORFIEH - RERBEER
N zZ=z S =
rights are conditioned on the Group's future performance accepted BURRASRBREE PRI AREZR - BF
5 s =, A > J=
by the customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade FERIR AR SHEERBREH
= o
receivables when the rights become unconditional. 5 FEHURIA
The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets ARERZSENEEDRRRBDEE R
S > Atk yog A5 5 >
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating %$%I§J%E/HHE/\\\IE REEBRMAKABE
cycle. EEE -
There was approximately HK$6,000 (2021: nil) impairment loss éﬁf::;f_::iiﬂij——ﬁiﬁfﬁ B
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other RBAEBRAC00ET(ZFZ—F: F)
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022. Bt ARG BERAMEERERT -
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

22.

23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUETHROUGH 22. B AFETAEBEZNEREE
PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
—=E-= =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
T THETT
Wealth management products by the bank R BRI IRITIR I E M
in the PRC 22,894 28,623
The wealth management products by the bank in the PRC with FEIRIRITLAMER @ Rt TAREMIEME®
underlying financial instrument mainly consist of the short-term TERRFENEHES  BEEMISRER
bonds, money market investment fund and bank deposits of the & SR ERITER
PRC.
The wealth management products carried floating interest rate at RZE-_—F=A=+—HB BYERRY
2.2%-3.28% (2021: 2.02%3.73%) per annum as at 31 March 2022. BFERMEDEFINBE(ZEZ—F 120
EE373E)FE -
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. RITEBREE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$2,478,000 (2021: HK$8,167,000) which were
denominated in RMB. The remittance of these funds out of the PRC
is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the PRC
government.

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates which range from 0.3% to 0.35% (2021: 0.3% to 0.35%)
per annum.

RZEBE-_—F=ZA=+—H AEBEHEEMN
ARBIHEMIRITHE S LIRS 4247800078
TT(ZZ = —4 : 81670008 7T) © [AIFPEIE
HNE FRZB B ST BB B TR SN E I ©

RITEREFRBTERFRR RS - F
RENFOIER0ISE(ZT-—F : F7
ROIFEEQ3SE) °

BFEHEERAT
TR FERE

m
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

A

il

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24. B REMENTIEA
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FHT

Trade payables B S RIA 19,275 4,696

Accruals JEsTE 737 543

Other payables (note i) Eof At shaE (i) 33,491 29,110

53,503 34,349

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based NTRRREAREEZAHZINE S E

on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: IR BRER DA -

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FHT

Within 90 days A= 3,392 3,544

91 to 180 days 91 HE180H 4,303 1,152

181 to 365 days 181 HZ 365 H 11,297 -

Over 365 days B8 365 H 283 -

19,275 4,696

The average credit period granted by its suppliers ranging from 30 to HERER TR EHEERNT30E120H °

120 days. The Group has financial risk management in place to AEEEERMBRERRER - LABRAEE

ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe. NRERNMEEHR NS

Note: BIRE -

[0) Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2022, approximately 0] RZZE-—F=A=+—Hit AEMENAFEN
RMB21,812,000 (equivalent to HK$26,920,000 (2021: RMB20,725,000 (equivalent SEL AR 21,812,000 7T (FHE 7 26,920,000 7T
to HK$24,563,000))) represented the amounts due to former subsidiaries of (ZZT=Z—%F: AR®207250007m(HER
which amounted to approximately RMB4,656,000 (equivalent to HK$5,746,000 24556300078 7C)) ) % BRI B R R KB RAR
(2021: RMB3,851,000 (equivalent to HK$4,565,000))) related to interest payables #5 4,656,000 T (FAE 745,746,000 78 7L (T = —4F ¢
to a former subsidiary of the Company, Beijing Huagin World Technology AR #3,851,00070 (FHE 74,565000%8 L)) * %
Company Limited (“Beijing Huaqin"). The amount is unsecured, interest-free RIEHEERS FAIM B AR REH KRB BR
and repayment on demand. AR RESHDOMNEEH Z2RBAEK

o RO RBRBIER
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. S8’
2022 2021
—=E-— —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THETT
Revenue from system development contract R B R F A L H IS = 690

Contract liabilities represents advances received for the system
development contract. The performance obligation would be
satisfied upon the time of the completion of system development.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022 that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year is
HK$690,000 (2021: nil) in respect of project-based system
development contracts. There was no revenue recognised in the
current year that related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in a prior year.

. T YT L "ot

BHREERARAES ORI - BY
AR R TTREEX

HE - Z-—F=F=1+—RHILEE}%&HE
BRI ESRHEA LD R 69000078
T(ZZE-—F B)BFAFVANAE -
AEEWERN E—FEERNBLHE TR

R
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The financial liabilities represented the provision of the Profit
Guarantee contained in an investment agreement between
Shenzhen Quantum Technology Information Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Quantum”) and the non-controlling shareholder of Shenzhen CITIC
Cyber Security Authentication Co,, Ltd (“CITIC Cyber Security"):

180

U]

(i)

In the event that the net profit attributable to the shareholders
of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-recurring profit
and loss) for the year ended 31 December 2019, 31 December
2020 and 31 December 2021 is less than RMB800,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB85,000,000 (the “Guaranteed Net
Profit’), respectively, Shenzhen Quantum shall compensate
CITIC Technology in accordance with the following formula:

Compensation amount = (Guaranteed Net Profit for the year
— actual net profit for the year)

x30% x 10

In the event that the average net profit attributable to the
shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security (after deducting non-
recurring profit and loss) for the three years ended 31
December 2021 is less than RMB40,000,000, the aggregate net
profit attributable to the shareholders of CITIC Cyber Security
(after deducting non-recurring profit and loss) for the three
years ended 31 December 2021 is less than RMB120,000,000,
there is material default, or serious illegal business has been
undertaken by CITIC Cyber Security, CITIC Technology may
request Shenzhen Quantum to acquire the equity interest in
CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology in accordance
with the terms and conditions of such investment agreement.
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26. BERFEFABEENEHEAE

REREBETAE  eRAERERYITE
FREAEERDA (MRYIEF]) BRI
FEHELZREBRAR ([HEHAR])IFE
P B SR A0t )R 8 A

(i)

wWEE-ZE—-—hhF+=—A=+—8"
ZEZEF+ZA=F+—BER=ZE
——F+ A=t HULEFEHESH
2 IR R PG 4B (ACHOBR FEAE T 1R A
M EE) 2 BHER A R 8000007t
AR 40,000,000 7T &2 A B # 85,000,000
T RBHAF]) - RIEFERET
A B EAMTEL EE

FESE=- (FERBLN-FE
BEIRALF]) x 30% x 10

wWEE-—ZT-—F+=-_A=+—H1E
ZEAFERERLTREENG T4 T
(MR IEEH R REE) ERA
R #40000000 =T = —F
+-A=+—HULE=FAFETEREL
% 5 FE i 4B 4 ) (AS 0B FEAE 3 1 Vs )
K18 ) K A R # 120,000,000 7 ~ %
EBRERYNXFPERLHEERER
e RERT A 2SORIIE FIRIE
BBRREHENGER GG WESRE
HATiFE R s AR -
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 26. RAFEFTAEBEZENESHES

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Details of the investment agreement have been set out in the
Company's announcement dated 12 October 2018.

Financial liabilities arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen
Quantum and its subsidiary CITIC Cyber Security (collectively referred
to as “Shenzhen Quantum Group”) is unsecured, interest-free and
not repayable within twelve months. Balance of financial liabilities
arising in relation to the acquisition of Shenzhen Quantum Group
was primarily earn-up of approximately HK$1,792,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019 (HK$11,762,000 as at acquisition date on 4 July
2018). Earn-up will be realised if the CITIC Cyber Security achieve
certain profit targets during the designated period of time. Details of
earn-up measurement are set out as above mentioned.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group measured fair
value of financial liabilities of profit guarantee in investment
arrangement based on the market outlook and their prevailing
business plans and projections. No change in fair value of financial
liabilities at FVTPL was recognised during the year ended 31 March
2021. The fair value of financial liabilities assessment is calculated
based on discounted cash flows of future payment with the
estimated future profit of these acquired businesses in Shenzhen
Quantum and subject to ceiling level up to net assets of Shenzhen
Quantum Group.

On 2 March 2022, CITIC Technology requested Shenzhen Quantum
to acquire the equity interest in CITIC Cyber Security held by CITIC
Technology in accordance with the terms and conditions of such
investment agreement. No change in fair value of financial liabilities
at FVTPL was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022. The
fair value of financial liabilities of acquiring the equity interest in CITIC
Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology is calculated based on
higher of (i) investment cost of RMB30,000,000 with at fixed return
rates at 4.75% per annum (including bonus paid (after tax)) or (ii) fair
value of 30% shares holding in CITIC Cyber Security.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group measured fair
value of financial liabilities of acquiring the equity interest in CITIC
Cyber Security held by CITIC Technology and subject to celling level
up to net assets of Shenzhen Quantum Group. No change in fair
value of financial liabilities at FVTPL was recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

(%)
BERBOFECRINAARAMA-T
—NE+A+ZAMRER -

RUWBRIETREMNBARPERL (5
BIFYEFEEBDFEEANCSRBERE
BH - RERBEARTZEARNERE - &2
“E-NFZAZ+—HLEFE  RWER
JIEFEBEEANCREBEEHTIERET
%91,792000 8 T (RWERAH T —N\F+
AN HA11,762,00087T) ° WA ERAZRE
EWREEABRSEENEIE - AIgRM
BZEM - BFIFTEMFIBFL0 AT -

HE_Z-—F=—A=1+—HItFE  *K%
ERBE ISR = RIRITH BT 8 R I8 RI T
AEREREPHENRBNEREELT
B-#HE-_Z-—F=-A=+—HILFE "
BEAFEFABENESREBENATESLE
FH) o B ENQTETRER RS
AR ENEMZELRYIEFHORIBER
FRIEET R AR ACE ) M E R AT, - WHTEER
JEFEBEMNEEFE -

MW-ZE-—F=ZF-R  PEREMERZFY
EFIRBEZIEE MR ER R IEGFREE P =
RiiEEmPERLRE 22— -—

ZA=Z+—HIFE  TEZRAFEARB
THEMEBENRFEES - WHEH ST
BANFEETRENTBEERATETR
BUTERSEHFE: 0RERNAARYE
30,000,0007C © [ETE B3R T &FF475% (£
FEEMEA(BRFE)) K0 FEHEELH30%
FREHAFE -

HE-_Z-—F#=A=1+—HIEFEE K&
Bt RER ERITHENR EHETRE
NEMBENRTFE  TRTPRINETER
NEEFEARAR HE-_ZT_—_F=A
=+ —HLEFE  BERRIZAFTET AR
EHNERAaEQTE-
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

27.

182

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 18 June 2021, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, CITIC Cyber Security entered into a share transfer
agreement (as amended and restated by a supplemental agreement
dated 22 June 2021) with, among others, an independent third party
(the “Vendor”), pursuant to which CITIC Cyber Security agreed to
acquire, and the Vendor agreed to sell, 70% of the equity interest in
Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development, at the consideration of
RMB7,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,000).

No acquisition-related costs have been recognised as an expense
during the year ended within the administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised as at the date of acquisition

27. KEE—EHERF

REZBE-—FXATN\H ARFEEIEE
BB ART ERELE(Ehel) BuyE=
HEADI R hEERE(CASHAEZ
T —FXRNAZt-_HRNEABEEIINE
) Bt P ERTRERE MEAR
BUARE AR 7,0007T (FHE 49800075 7T)
I R R A BHE B R 700% IR -

I 8 L R AR RR OB AN I B AR & Rt S HL
b2 E R P I T SRR B RIS

2

REERHNERBEERCHIAAED

are as follows: ™
HK$'000
FH&T
Plant and equipment 5 M ek 3
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b EWE IR 2,080
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEY 14
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMENRIE (2,998)
(901)
HK$'000
FH&T
Consideration transferred EEAE 8
Plus: non-controlling interests (51% in B0 FEIERR R A (P AR EE A 51%)
Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development) (note) (BsE) (460)
Less: net identified liabilities assumed B RED BRI A EFRE 901
Goodwill arising from acquisition W B P EE A P 449

Note:

CITIC Cyber Security hold 70% interest in Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development and
hence the Company holds a 49% effective interest in Zhongzhisuxun Technology
Development. The board of directors of Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development is
controlled by the Company. Thus, Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development is the
Company's subsidiary.
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e MR

EFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% F=A=+—RHILtFE

27. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The non-controlling interests in Zhongzhisuxun Technology
Development recognised at the acquisition date was measured at
their proportionate share of net liabilities acquired and amounted to
approximately HK$460,000.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Zhongzhisuxun

27. WE—HEKEQE (&)
R B R R A R B R O I 42
B S T AL L B (DR B EL DU B T

£ #5460,0008 7T °

BWEFERANERBERNREN

28‘

Technology Development =EE
HK$'000
FAT
Cash paid on acquisition WEENENR S 8)
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired BURENES MRS EEMRE 14
6
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 28. HEHEB LT
(a) Disposal of Zhongzhisuxun Technology (a) HEPERABERE
Development
On 28 February 2022, the Group entered into a sale and RZEZZF_HA=Z+N\B  r&HE
purchase agreement with an independent third party not HAEEEBEENBELFE=FFTE

connected with the Group for the disposal of entire equity
interest in Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development, an
indirectly partially owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash

B HEARTRMEITSEAN
B8 A B R B A R B R A 2 ERAX
B RAeRE/SARKIT(HER

consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to HK$1). BIT) o
HKS$'000
FHEIT
Consideration: RIE:
Other receivables H IR =

*

The amount shown as zero due to rounding less than HK$1,000.

SRR 100087 EMBAATIRE

=

BFEHEERAT
TR FERE
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) Disposal of Zhongzhisuxun Technology
Development (Continued)

28. HEME AR (&)

(a) HEPERAMKER(E)

HKS$'000
FAET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control REERGENEEREEDN
was lost:
Goodwill G 449
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b EWGRIE 2,280
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB LIRS 12
Trade and other payables H 5 N E M ER IR (3461)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEEETE (720)
HKS$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — TR B A Bl as
Consideration receivable FEU (B =
Net liabilities disposed of EHEaEFE 720
Non-controlling interests IR R (474)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve R EZWB AR ESN
upon disposal of the subsidiary DIERFHAE RE (13)
233
HKS$'000
FAT

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of

Zhongzhisuxun Technology Development did not contribute
significant revenue, profit and cashflows to the Group for the
year.

*

The amount shown as zero is due to rounding less than HK$1,000.
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #HEZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE

28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

28. HEME AR (&)

(b) Disposal of China Mobile Payment (b) HEFEBEZAREEEERA
Technology Group Company Limited (“China A(PEXZF ) RENEB AT
Mobile”) and its subsidiaries
China Mobile was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the HE-_Z-_Z=FN\A+hHB & l §
Company up on 19 August 2020. It held 90% equity interests HF@,$ A—XEEZENBER
in Hua Strong Network Science and Technology Company E%ﬁiﬁ?&é%ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂ(fﬁij)
Limited (“Hua Strong”) which in turn held 51% equity 90% % HE - MERFHILREE 1%
interests in Beijing Huagin and controlled the board of ¥ RiEsHtRESEEe (T KR
directors of Beijing Huaqjin (hereafter collectively referred to as [HREXAF4RB ) °
the “China Mobile Group”).

The directors of the Group resolved to dispose of the entire AN EEERAEREBRHEESERR
equity interests in China Mobile as management was in view B AEEESRE aﬁ/?&ﬁ EHPEE
that results of the business were behind their expectation. As 2R E - R_E-_FEF=H
at 31 March 2020, assets and liabilities of the China Mobile —+—H FEINFHENNEENE
Group had been classified as assets classified as held for sales ECE P BEABELENEEN L H
and liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale o *@%%{’Eﬁ EMEEHBENEE
and were presented separately in the consolidated statement WA BERARKRPERFRZS) -
of financial position.
On 19 August 2020, the Group disposed 100% of the entire RZBE-_ZFFNA+ILHE AEEI
share capital of China Mobile, at consideration of HK$50,000, RIE 50 OOO/% TR—ZBILE=F T
to an independent third party. The net liabilities of the China E S 2 2R AR AEY 100% A E
Mobile Group at the date of disposal were as follows: EREFES AR B EFEAT
HK$'000
FH&TT
Consideration: RAE -
Other receivables H fth pE 508 50
HK$'000
FH&TT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which KERFENEEREBEDIT
control was lost:
Plant and equipment B K5 33
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HADEWFIE 2,285
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEFAEBENEREE 6,660
Restricted cash ZREEE 127
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR IR 130
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERNFIE (79,204)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEEEFE (69,969)
ETRHBRAT
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 28. HEMBE AT (&)

(b) Disposal of China Mobile Payment (b) HEFEBEZAREEEERA
Technology Group Company Limited (“China A((HEZGF])REHE QT
Mobile”) and its subsidiaries (Continued) (#8)

HKS$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of the China Mobile Group: HEPBEXFARKE
Consideration receivable U R E 50
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBETFE 69,969
Liabilities assumed upon disposal of subsidiaries TENBERARBIAENAR (22,446)
Non-controlling interests SRR (28,822)
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve RHEENBARBETHE
upon disposal of the subsidiaries REtnEFE 1373
20,124
HKS$'000
FAET
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESENRESMEFE
Cash consideration received BWEeRE -
Less: restricted cash, bank balances and B ERENIRHIRS
cash disposed of IRITHEB LIRS (257)
(257)
The disposal did not constitute a discontinued operation as it HEEBEBNMEK —TBD RIS ETR -
did not represent a major line of business or geographical area REAEWIIEFEXKENSEMNE
of operation. @ o
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #HEZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE

28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

28. HEME AR (&)

(b) Disposal of China Mobile Payment (b) HEFEBEZAREEEERA
Technology Group Company Limited (“China A((HEZF])REHE QT
Mobile”) and its subsidiaries (Continued) (#8)

(i)  Assets and liabilities of the China Mobile Group @M & 3'zﬁ‘§ﬂzu WEEREE
The following assets and liabilities were reclassified as BE-_ZT-_ZF=A=+—H"
held for sale in relation to the group of subsidiaries as at LA—I—ﬁF?T‘H ABEENHBEAEN
31 March 2020. BARERNBRANFELE -

As at
31 March 2020
RZE-ETF
=A=+—H
HKS$'000
FET
Assets classified as held for sale PEABEHENEE

Plant and equipment 5 K 35 4 33
Trade and other receivables E 5 N E A R FIA 1,303
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABENEHEE 6,559
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 230
8,125

Liabilities associated with assets classified HAEBSFEHENEE

as held for sale HENaE

Trade and other payables (notes i, ii and i) B 5 AR FRIE (B EE i Kiii) 76,704

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020,
approximately of HK$194,000 represented the amount due to
Mr. Chan Foo Wing, the ultimate beneficial owner of the
Company. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and
repayment on demand.

Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020,
approximately of HK$10,932,000 represented the amount due
to an independent third party, 3t RIR & BEFE R EEARA
7). The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on
demand.

Included in the amount of other payables as at 31 March 2020,
approximately of HK$2,353,000 represented the amount
payable to several former employees of Beijing Huagin due to
the litigations in respect of the termination of employment.

GER

()

(i)

(iif)

R-ZE-_TFE=A=+—HitAX
{th FE 1< 5 I8 #) & FB 49 194,000% 7T
EENAARGREREEARE
SR ERFRIE o ZRIE R -

R B RBRENKEE -

RZZE-TF=A=+—HtAH
il & < 3K TE K9 & BB 49 10,932,000 78
TSN BN E = Hit R EEE
WEEREBRAFNRIE ° 38
REER . 2B REREREE-

RZZEZZTF=R=+—HitAH
ftb FE 1< BB A © BB 49 2,353,000 7% 7T
1858 AR IH R AR AR 7 %iﬁzﬁéﬁit
FEYETAATREE NN
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #HE-—T-_—F=A=+—HIFE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. ELEHIAE
As at 31 March 2022, no deferred tax asset has been recognised in MRIE_Z_F=A=+—H BRAEXE]
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$175,375,000 (2021: ALBHEB T ERFEBEBEED
HK$183,263,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 175,375,000/ 70 (ZF — —4F : 183,263,000/
7E> EEFIU}EL%—RIEQF
As at 31 March 2022, the Group has tax losses of approximately R-ZEZ_F=A=+—8 KAEBEHFHE
HK$74,900,000 (2021: HK$88,240,000) that will be expired within next B 18 49749000008 L( = & = — F:
five years. The remaining tax losses of approximately HK$100,475,000 88,240,000/ 70) IS AR AR A F N EIER - 2T
(2021: HK$95,023,000) may be carried forward indefinitely. B F T8 BS54 49 100,475,000 78 7T (_f ——fF:

95,023,000 74 7T ) A] #E R HA 4%

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. R4
Number of Share
shares capital
BB E [ &
‘000 HK$’000
TR FET
Ordinary share of HK$0.10 each T E @010 7T
Authorised: ERE ¢
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 E/\\_Z@_Qiﬂﬂ H -
and 31 March 2022 —E_—H=A=+—8H"
ZE--FOA—BXK
—E--F=A=1+—H 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: E?é‘ﬁ&f%ﬁli :
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 RZEZZFMA—A
and 31 March 2022 —E_—H=A=+—8H"
:;:—imﬂ Ak
—E__H=A=+—H 1,356,250 135,625
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

31.

32.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members
of key management personnel during the year was as follows:

31. BB AR S

FEEE AN
FRNAARESREMIEERABOMS
m

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Short-term benefits 5 EE A 3,166 1813
Post-employment benefits RRAEF 46 24
3,212 1,837

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, subsidiaries in the
PRC are required to contribute to a state-managed retirement plan
for all its employees at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its
employees. The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to all retired employees. Under
the state-managed retirement plan, the Group has no further
obligations for the actual pension payments or post-retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the total cost charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of approximately HK$756,000 (2021: HK$321,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the respective accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

33.

190
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

The Company's new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to written resolution of the Company passed on 1
August 2011 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 31 July 2021.
Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may grant
employee or consultant, advisor, agent, contractor, client or supplier
of the Company or any subsidiary who in the sole opinion of the
board of directors have contributed or are expected to contribute to
the Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company as at the date of passing of the relevant
ordinary resolution. The number of shares issued and to be issued in
respect of which options granted and may be granted to any
individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the issue
share capital of the Company for the time being (the “Individual
Limit"). Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors or any of their respective associates, would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any one
year up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of
the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up on the date of grant, upon
payment of HK$1.00. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of grant of the share option to the tenth anniversary of the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the board of directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of the Company’s share; (i) the closing price of the
Company's shares on the date of grant; and (iii) the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

No share options have been granted since the adoption of the
scheme and during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #;

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

EFE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activity, including both cash and non-cash change.
Liabilities arising from financing activity is those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

F=A=+—ALFE

34. MEEFHEANEBEYHK

TRFAMAREREZHELNE
BRASNIFREE
AERASREXRKESREHNAEELR
ERERERTOERREZTDHESREN

BED -

cRERPELNE

BE-
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing AfE
activity.
Lease liabilities
HEAE
HK$’000
THET
(note 17)
(MtzE17)
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FmMH—H 2,063
Financing cash flows: BERSMNE
— Repayment — B (2,487)
Non-cash changes: JEIR S EFH -
— New lease recognised — EERHNFHE 1,819
— Income from waived of lease repayment (note 8) — ReHEERHBA (HES) (140)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —EmRNHEEAENE 126
— Exchange realignment — [EH A 54
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=R=+—H 1,435

Lease liabilities

HEBE
HK$'000
FAT
(note 17)
(B&E17)
At 1 April 2020 R-ZFE-FTFHMA—H 7,086
Financing cash flows: MEHRSME
— Repayment — B (2,279)
Non-cash changes: FREEH
— Increase in accruals — FERT B AN (80)
— Lease derecognised due to the adjustment upon — AHEEEHARMK I LEROEE
lease modification (3,376)
— Income from waived of lease repayment (note 8) — REeHEEERHBA (FHEs) (128)
— Interest on lease liabilities recognised —ERRNEEERE 152
— Exchange realignment — EH PR 688
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—F=HA=+—H 2,063
ETRHBRAT

TR FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #

EEF

FZA=+—ALFE

35. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

192
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35. XD RMBARRZBNESR

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5T TET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment W K 5R 23 37
Investments in subsidiaries WEBRRZIEE (i) = -
23 37
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other Ze  BRNFIEREAmE
receivables TRIB (ii) 541 685
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG B (iif) - -
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 3,082 9,639
3,623 10,324
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals E b e A M ERE A 642 450
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,981 9,874
Total assets less current liabilities #EEERATEE 3,004 9,911
Equity s
Share capital R A 135,625 135,625
Reserves HiE (iv) (132,621) (125,714)
Total equity A 3,004 9911
Wang Xiaoqi Ho Ching
THER A fiE
Director Director
EE EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PN s
%’\m/\ﬁﬁk#&%mjﬂf
Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #HEZT-_—F=A=+—HIFE
35. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2022, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost of HK$26
(2021: HK$26), no impairment loss in respect of investments in subsidiaries has
been recognised in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Included in the amounts of other receivables as at 31 March 2022, the gross
amount approximately HK$295,000 (2021: HK$287,000) represented the
amounts due from former subsidiaries with accumulated loss allowance on
other receivable of approximately HK$295,000 (2021: HK$287,000). The amount

35. AR RMBARRRBER (K)

Wi

(i)

RZZZZF=A=+—HB RHERRMNEE
TR AR 26 BT (ZF Z—4F : 2678 7T) 58K -
HﬁEAMTE/‘ﬂE’J?ﬁﬁiﬁ&aﬁm@éﬁaiﬁm%&
CECCFRCE-—FZA=1+—HILFEN
B PR o

BERZZEZZF=Z A=+ AmEmEKE
SEFR - EURETHTE A B FIE /Y B 58 49 295,000 78
TL(ZZFZ—4F 12870008 7T)  HAEUGRIER
5t 5 18 8 48 49 295,000 7T (= = — 4F : 287,000

is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand. BIL) c e HAEER B NMEEREE -
There was approximately HK$8,000 (2021: HK$31,000) impairment loss BHE-TS-—F=A=+—"BLEFE REEE
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HmhEMEAWRFIRPEESERREREY
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2022. 8000/ 7T (ZF = —% : 31,000/7T) °
Amounts due from subsidiaries iy  FEWPHE R AIFIE
2022 2021
—EBC-—fF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU MY & A Bk IE 99,095 95,320
Less: loss allowance W SIERE (99,095) (95,320)
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and W B ARSRIEAEER e REEREER

repayable on demand.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, impairment loss approximately HK$3,775,000
(2021: HK$2,150,000) on amounts due from subsidiaries were recognised in
profit or loss.

Included in the amounts due from subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021, the carrying
amount of approximately HK$256,000 with accumulated loss allowance of
approximately HK$256,000 were reclassified to other receivables which related
to amount due to a former subsidiary.

HE-Z--F=ZA=1+—RH1LLFE  BLHEB
N A RE R ERIEH3,7750008 L (Z T = —4F ¢
2,150,000 7T) B R B R o

R-TE-Z—F=ZA=+—Ht \BRHBARK
TEH BRI E4) 5 256,000 8 0B A 25 BB ELD
2560008 T E EF A EE H b EUGRTE - HEE
N—FERNEARRERR -

Movements in reserves ) B
Share premium  Accumulated losses Total
R &E RitEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FTERT FET
At 1 April 2020 R-B-ZENH—A 101,852 (219,750) (117,898)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEREENREM
for the year 2EMAX - (7,816) (7,816)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 ﬁé—i—*iiﬂi+*5&
—E=—FMA—H 101,852 (227,566) (125,714)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  4F WEETE&,HJ’@
for the year FHEMAZ - (6,907) (6,907)
At31 March 2022 R-ZEZ=F=A=+—H 101,852 (234,473) (132,621)
FREBRLTE
RrEernil 103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. AR FEME R BHFE
COMPANY
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 RIB-—FR-_E-—F=A=1+—HAK
are as follows: NEIMEA R FFEERINAT
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of shares  registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation held capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRIREY
BREE
HREL/ frisi B/
WEAREE AL/ EE% B3 ERER RAREERAEERZAER DL TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# A
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--E  -E--%  ZB-CE -E--f
China Integrated Telecommunications ~ The British Virgin Ordinary Uss1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Group Co. Limited Isfands ('BVI')
hERABAZEERAT KERRES £ 1% 100% 100% - - RERR
China 020 Business Group Co. Limited ~ BVI Ordinary USs1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
TEO0EREEER AR ZRRNEHE R B3 100% 100% - - REER
Bxcellent Master Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Financing and administrative
expense for the Group
Excellent Master Investments Limited 78 iE 13T 100% 100% - - REEMIBRIBEX
YBDS Muttimedia Company Limited BVl Ordinary USs1 100% 100% - - Online network systems
development
ERSERARAT KERREE 3 1% 100% 100% - - BHeEgEEER
Yunbo Digital Synergy Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
EBERARLA B R 1B 100% 100% - - REER
Pacific Honour Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKST - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
EIRERARAR & L@ 1A - - 100% 1000 BERR
Guangzhou YBDS IT Co, Ltd* (note i) PRC Contributed RMB40,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
capital development services,
consultation services and
hardware-related business
BABBESHRARRA ket THER ARE - - 100% 100% REXERERS  BR
(B3E1) 400000007 TRAUA R IR R

* For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

“re TSR M

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

AY

il

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

36. AN FIME QAN (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of shares  registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation held capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
BRTREH
BREE
HEET/ BB B/
WEARAR A/ EE% E5 ERER ARARERTERRRABAD L TEEH
Direct Indirect
E# 3
2022 2021 2022 2021
—B--E  -E--5  ZBCCE -Z--f
Able Bloom Technology Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
AENRARLR & 4] 1A - - 100% 100% KA
Shenzhen Yunbo Information System PRC Contributed RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Service Company Limited * capital
(note i)
MIERESZARBERAA HE HEEA N - - 100% 1000 RERR
(B3 50000007
Shenzhen YBDSIT Co, Ltd.* (note i) PRC Contributed RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of system
capital development services and
consultation services
AR RE R RERAT ket TAER AR¥ - - 100% 100% RHERZERERBR
(B3E1) 200000007 BRRE
Shenzhen Anxin Certification System PRC Contributed RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100% ~ Investment holding
Co, Ltd* (note ) capital
ML EREZRERAT i TEER AEH - - 100% 100% REAR
(B3E) 500000007
Shenzhen Quantum Technology PRC Contributed RMB10,770,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
Information Co, Ltd.* (note ) capital
MR TR EERAR ket TEER ARE - - 100% 100% REER
(B3ED) 107700007
* For identification purpose only * (EHRBF
ETRERRALT
—E - _FEWE 19 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. AR FEME R BHIFE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
Issued and fully
Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Class of shares  registered interest and voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation held capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
EEGNES |
BREB
AL/ Bt Bx/
MEARER AV £3:H] E5 HMEx RAREERABERRAER DL TERH
Direct Indirect
E# %
2022 2021 2022 2021
—g--E  -E--f  CZB-ZE —Z--f
Shenzhen CITIC Cyber Security PRC Contributed ~ RMB14,290,000 - - 70% 70% - Technical development and
Authentication Co, Ltd* (note i) capital software development
T ERZAZERAA () +E HEER AR - - 70% 0% FEERERRAFER
14,290,000 7T
Internal and External Double Circular PRC Contributed RMB20,000,000 - - 70% - Technical development and
Economy Technology (Suzhou) Co, Ltd. * capital software development
(note i)
RINERIRATERIE (M) EP HEER AR - - 70% - RFERBARE
BB (M) 200000007
Note: fsT -
[0 The nature of all the legal entities established in PRC is limited liability company. 0] RAEBEKINBEEZEENMEREREED
al o
* For identification purpose only * o EHREE
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36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities outstanding
at the end of both years or at any time during both years.

Details of subsidiary that have non-controlling interests that are
material to the Group:

Proportion of ownership

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

36. AN FIME QAN (&)

PR B QR R M EFEFRRFARTE
B SN ERS & 55

BERHAEET = BERAIEIZEIRME R

B

Place of interest and voting rights held Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation by non-controlling interest non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERERRFENREERREER ABREFERERR
WEARERE TEM AR L 3 2 RRELLA S| Bt FEREs
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
- St -3 —E--F —B-CF “E--F —B-CF —E--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR TR TR TR
CITIC Cyber Security PRC 30% 30% (2,552) (284) (6,455) (3521)
PEHEZ e

The summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

RERE A AR s RO P8 A B b
BRAEENPBERBERIIMT - TX
M ER R SRR E R HAT RS -

BFEHEERAT
TR FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR T

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

36. AN FIME QAN (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
CITIC Cyber Security RiERZ
2022 2021
=== == —4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Current assets REEE 3,722 9,898
Non-current assets FEmBEE 25,512 4812
Current liabilities MEAE (50,752) (26,038)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE - (409)
Net liabilities BEFHE (21,518) (11,737)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AR BI#EA A EIEERS (15,063) (8,216)
Non-controlling interests BT (6,455) (3,521)
2022 2021
—E=-= —F-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Revenue Was 5,930 4,759
Other income H A 1,585 8,236
Expenses R (16,022) (13,943)
Loss for the year FANEE (8,507) (948)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KRa)EA AELEE (5,955) (664)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling interests ~ FE1E AR 25 FE 15 B 18 (2,552) (284)
Loss for the year FNEIE (8,507) (948)
Other comprehensive expense attributable RARHEE AEEEMEERS
to owners of the Company (892) (608)
Other comprehensive expense attributable IR EREEEMEERY
to the non-controlling interests (382) (260)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEEAY (1,274) (868)
Total comprehensive expense attributable PIN/NETE? ¥ =N Y bt g bl
to owners of the Company (6,847) (1,271)
Total comprehensive expense attributable IR B 2R B
to the non-controlling interests (2,934) (545)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FARHEMSERE (9,781) (1,816)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from KETZBMIRES R,/
operating activities MAF (4,237) 1,085
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REEFHNRERA
investing activities (fedt) #88 6,554 (6,165)
Net cash outflow from financing activities RIEEBMIR & FEEE (1,667) (1,399)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) WeARA/ (Rd) F58 650 (6,479)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #EZE=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

37.

38.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into one
new arrangement in respect of renting property. Right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of approximately HK$1,819,000 were recognised
at the commencement of the leases.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, pursuant to the adjustment
of lease madification, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,745,000 and HK$3,376,000
were derecognised respectively.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

CITIC Cyber Security, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the JV Shareholders’ Agreement dated 30
September 2020 with China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd.
("China Mobile Group’), China United Network Communications
Group Company Limited (“China Unicom Group”), China
Telecommunications Corporation (“China Telecom Corporation”)
and Chinese Shield Anicert, pursuant to which the parties agreed to
jointly establish the JV Company to be a digital technology company
providing computer software development and system integration
services to its shareholders and other parties.

Pursuant to the JV Shareholders’ Agreement, the registered capital of
the JV Company would amount to RMB100,000,000, among which,
China Mobile Group, China Telecom Corporation, China Unicom
Group, CITIC Cyber Security and Chinese Shield Anicert would
contribute RMB24 million, RMB20 million, RMB20 million, RMB20
million and RMB16 million and each of them would respectively own
24%, 20%, 20%, 20% and 16% of the equity interest in the JV
Company. CITIC Cyber Security undertakes to procure that on or
before 31 December 2021, 50% or more of its shareholding shall be
state-owned and the state-owned shareholders in CITIC Cyber
Security shall be concert parties when deciding matters relating to
the JV Company, including changes in equity interest, election of
senior management and operation of the JV Company. As such,
upon fulfilment of the Undertaking, the equity interest of the Group
in CITIC Cyber Security will be diluted from 70% to less than 50%.

37.

38.

FEHFBRESRS
HE-_Z-—_E=A=1+—HIFE K&
EREEME T BT - FRAEEE
FEEAEX 18190008 T E AR
7
BHE-_T--—F=A=1+—HIL5E B#E
HEBRNAR  FHELSENHESREDN
BREME 7 BI4)2,745,00078 7T F13,376,000/8 7T
B0 RIAR ETERR o

BREHREE
ARARNEEZIFZENBERRTEBL D5
HRERHBEEEEERAR ([HEBHE
) FEBEAEGBEEREARAR([H
BEEEE])  PHEEEEARAA(H
BEEKE) MTELER-"F_FFNA
=+ BRITEERBRRGH - Bk - 774
HEEGERERRKIAERRHERBETH
BRRE  LAEBRREEMETOTREFE
MR 3 R R AR

BRESEQFTBRERBZHNIER  6&ERFH
M E AR A AR 1000000007 © HA A
EREHEER  FEESEEE FEHBERSE
B R ERTkTEREEIRILEARKE
24,000,000 7T + A B #20,000,0007C + AR
20,000,000 7T * A R # 20,000,000 7T & A R #
160000007 ' MEEZ B RFEEEE
N F124% ~ 20% ~ 20% ~ 20% K 16% & A% #E o
FEATERBERER_ZE-—F+ A
=+— Bk Z A E 50% sk A _ERRAE R A E
B mMPERTHBREREARSREAER
AEB(BERESEE HESRERAB
MEBERREE)N—BITB8AL - Bt
RBTERE - NEBRFEELTHIRES
FR 709% #5821 2 50% ©

BFEHEERAT
TR FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

Forthe yearended 31 March 2022 #Z=F-_—F=A=+—HILFE

38. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 38. HEHEREEE)
(Continued)
The deemed disposal may constitute a notifiable transaction of the RIEHEREARBKARAN —HATA
Company and may be subject to the reporting, announcement MRS - AJEEARIEGEM ETTARBIFE 10EE
requirements and shareholders’ approval requirements (if applicable) PR AEMREIERRT (REA) -

under Chapter 19 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of which are disclosed on the Company's announcements BE(ERBRE)KIAEARNEIELEE

dated 10 February 2021, 5 March 2021, 22 April 2021 and 26 May EHHEEREN A AR BB A-TE - —F =

2021 in relation to, among others, the JV formation and the deemed A+H - - —4%=ZAAB - _T-_—%F

disposal. MA-+-—HER-Z-—FRA-+/HHY
YN

As at 31 March 2022, the JV company has not been established and R-ZE-—F=ZA=+—8 ABERRMAX

the deemed disposal has not been completed. P AL R ARAE I & I8 18 R ST ©
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